A Reproductive Approach to Religion

by

Jordan W. Moon

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Approved February 2022 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Adam B. Cohen, Chair Douglas T. Kenrick Michael E. W. Varnum Frank J. Infurna

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2022

ABSTRACT

One salient aspect of most world religions is an emphasis on reproductive morality—rules about which types of sexual behaviors and familiar structures are acceptable. In Chapter 1, I introduce the theoretical background of the dissertation, including the Reproductive-Religiosity Model. Then, in one theoretical paper (Chapter 2) and two empirical papers (Chapters 3 and 4), I consider the cultural and social implications of religious proscriptions on sexual behavior. In Chapter 2, I review the Reproductive-Religiosity Model, which posits that religions are especially attractive to people who desire monogamous, long-term mating strategies. I also discuss the implications of this model for cultural evolution. In Chapter 3, I look at the social implications of these religious proscriptions. That is, if restricted attitudes toward sexuality are strongly linked to religious belief, it follows that people's stereotypes of religious people may track this relationship. Three studies showed that people tended to trust religious targets more than nonreligious targets, but that this effect seems to be due to inferences about religious targets' reproductive strategies-that is, people trusted religious targets because they perceived them more likely to be interested in starting a family. In Chapter 4, I examine patterns of religiosity across the world through a rational choice lens, positing that people are more likely to be religious when religion can help them fulfill their goals. Analysis of two global datasets shows that men, more so than women, tend to be less religious in countries with greater gender equality. Finally, Chapter 5 summarizes results and discusses future directions for this line of research.

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
LIST OF	TABLES	V
LIST OF	FIGURES	vi
CHAPTE	ER	
1	OVERVIEW	1
	Evolutionary Approaches to Religion	1
	What a Reproductive Approach Adds	2
	Overview of Chapters	4
2	WHY ARE WORLD RELIGIONS SO CONCERNED WITH SEXUAI	
	BEHAVIOR?	7
	Abstract	7
	Introduction	8
	Mating Psychology Influences Religious Belief	8
	Religions Influence Sexual and Reproductive Behavior	9
	Social Implications	11
	Implications for Cultural Evolution	13
	Future Directions	14
	Conclusion	17
	References	18
3	RELIGIOUS PEOPLE ARE TRUSTED BECAUSE THEY ARE VIEW	/ED AS
	SLOW LIFE-HISTORY STRATEGISTS	24
	Abstract	24

CHAPTER

4

ľ	ER	Page
	Introduction	25
	A Life-History Framework	26
	Religious Individuals as Slow Life-History Strategists	27
	The Present Work	27
	Experiment 1	28
	Method	28
	Results	30
	Experiment 2	34
	Method	35
	Results	36
	Experiment 3	41
	Method	41
	Results	42
	General Discussion	48
	References	51
	MEN ARE LESS RELIGIOUS IN MORE GENDER-EQUAL CO	OUNTRIES 55
	Abstract	55
	Introduction	56
	Method	62
	Results	65
	Discussion	71
	References	74

CHAPTER		Page
5	DISCUSSION	80
	Summary	80
	Future Directions	82
	Conclusion	85
REFERENCES		86
APPE	NDIX	
А	APROVAL FOR INCLUSION IN STAPLED DISSERTATION	
В	CHAPTER 3 ETHICAL APPROVAL	101
С	CHAPTER 4 ETHICAL APPROVAL	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Effects of Target Religion in Experiment 1
2.	Effects of Target Religion and Target Reproductive Strategy in Experiment 238
3.	Effects of Target Religion in Experiment 344
4.	Fixed Effects from Multilevel Models in WVS669
5.	Fixed Effects from Multilevel Models in EVS/WVS70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	Results from Experiment 1	31
2.	Parallel Multiple Mediation Model from Experiment 1	33
3.	Results from Experiment 2	38
4.	Parallel Multiple Mediation Model from Experiment 2	40
5.	Results from Experiment 3	45
6.	Parallel Multiple Mediation model from Experiment 3	46
7.	Global Gender Gap Index Scores by Country	62
8.	Predicted Values of Religiousness as a Function of Gender Equality	68

CHAPTER 1

OVERVIEW

"What religions do is bound up with the lives of ordinary people, with steering them through the phases of their existence, and not with arguments about with whom a married man spends eternity after resurrection or whether or not the Prophet Mohammed traveled from Arabia to Jerusalem in a single night." (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995, p. 13)

Where do religions come from and why do they persist? Here, I present a reproductive approach to religious beliefs and behaviors, rooted in the premise that religion is largely driven by its ability to solve real problems in people's lives (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995; Wright, 2009). This approach extends the Reproductive-Religiosity Model (Weeden et al., 2008), which proposes that people engage with religion strategically. In particular, because most religions place special emphasis on sexual morality (Hone et al., 2021; Moon, 2021; Reynolds & Tanner, 1995; Weeden et al., 2008; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013), religion is a powerful tool for those who benefit from such proscriptions.

Evolutionary Approaches to Religion

Throughout human history, the vast majority of people have believed in and interacted with supernatural agents (Norenzayan, 2010). Indeed, religion is so pervasive that most people throughout history might not have referred to themselves as religious (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995; Wright, 2009)—that is, the supernatural was so common that it did not set people apart from each other any more than a belief in gravity is considered special today. From an evolutionary perspective, the persistence of religion poses an interesting puzzle: Why would any organism voluntarily submit to a cultural institution that demands not only time and resources, but also curtails many freedoms?

Many evolutionary approaches to religion focus on cooperation. The details often differ—for example, some view religion as a biological adaptation (Johnson, 2005; Johnson & Bering, 2006) as a cognitive byproduct that was shaped by evolution (Norenzayan et al., 2016). Still, these approaches both rely on the logic that people are more likely to behave when they are being watched by others, and that an observant deity provides a powerful incentive for people to cooperate with others (Johnson, 2015; Norenzayan et al., 2016).

The effects of beliefs in God or gods does seem to inhibit cheating and promote prosocial behavior. Reminders of religious concepts seem consistently to promote prosocial behavior (e.g., giving in economic games); this effect seems to be small but consistent, and has replicated in a diverse set of cultures (Purzycki et al., 2016; Shariff et al., 2016). Further, and consistent with this approach, people tend to be more religious in environments that require cooperation: societies with certain subsistence styles (e.g., farming) or that have greater political complexity are more likely to have moralizing gods (Botero et al., 2014; Peoples & Marlowe, 2012).

What a Reproductive Approach Adds

Although religions seem to enhance cooperation, is cooperation the primary or most salient outcome? The Reproductive-Religiosity Model, introduced by Weeden and colleagues (2008) argues that religions are largely about reproductive support. Weeden et al. (2008) analyzed data from undergraduates and from the General Social Survey; consistent with prior studies, they found zero-order correlations between religiousness

2

and several variables, including the frequency of being drunk, self-control, agreeableness, conscientiousness, and several cooperative behaviors and attitudes (e.g., lying to one's parents, shoplifting, cheating on exams). They also found strong correlations between religiousness and reproductive variables, such as sociosexuality (favorable attitudes toward and a disposition to engage in short-term sexual relationships), desire to have a family, opposition to divorce, and homosexuality.

Although these analyses suggested that religion was related both to cooperative and reproductive variables, they also analyzed whether these relations hold when controlling for other variables. Their results found consistently that reproductive variables consistently predict religion, even when controlling for other variables. However, after controlling for reproductive variables, nearly all the personality or cooperativeness variables were no longer significant predictors of religiousness (Weeden et al., 2008). Weeden and colleagues interpreted these results to mean that mating strategies largely seem to drive religious affiliation, and that correlations of religion with other variables may often be spurious, as these other variables are also associated with mating strategies.

Since this paper, several lines of evidence have hinted at the importance of mating strategies in explaining religion. First, Weeden and Kurzban (2013) showed that the same pattern of results holds across major world regions in the World Values Survey: reproductive morality consistently predicts religiousness (r = .36), whereas religiousness is weakly or not significantly predicted by cooperative moral variables after controlling for reproductive morality (r = -.04). Similarly, Schmitt and Fuller (2015) found that

3

religiousness was associated with less permissive sexuality across the major regions of the world.

The above papers tended to rely on partial correlations to make inferences about the functions of religion. In addition to correlation evidence, there is some longitudinal evidence for the link between mating strategies and religiousness. For example, young adults often become less religious, and this is especially true if they hope to engage in short-term sexual relationships (Weeden, 2015). As for adults, another study used latent growth models to examine different trajectories of religiousness across adulthood, finding that one latent class tends to become more religious in middle-adulthood, but to become somewhat less religious in later adulthood, after their children have left the home (McCullough et al., 2005). Taken together, these studies suggest that people are often attracted to religion, at least in part, depending on their reproductive goals. When they wish to follow a committed mating strategy or to raise children, religion is a useful tool. When they do not have such goals, religion becomes considerably less useful.

Overview of Chapters

This dissertation consists of three separate papers, each of which takes a reproductive approach to some aspect of the psychology of religion. Taken together, these papers show the value of this approach to several aspects of religion, including what attracts people to religion, what stereotypes and perceptions people have of the religious, and how religion might vary across the world.

Chapter 2 is a paper published in *Current Opinion in Psychology* (Moon, 2021), which discusses why world religions are so concerned with sexual behavior. This paper reviews evidence for the Reproductive-Religiosity Model, then focuses on how religions actually influence reproductive outcomes. That is, if people are drawn to religion because of its reproductive affordances, it follows that religious individuals should have some reproductive advantages over nonreligious individuals. Finally, I discuss the implications of reproduction for the cultural evolution of religions, suggesting that high-fertility lifestyles and norms about sexuality may help certain religious variants to become more common (see also Rowthorn, 2011; Van Slyke & Szocik, 2020).

Chapter 3 is an empirical paper consisting of three experiments published in *Psychological Science* (Moon et al., 2018). Several lines of research have shown that people are more willing to trust religious (vs. nonreligious) individuals (e.g., Gervais et al., 2011; Hall et al., 2015; Tan & Vogel, 2008). Many researchers had attributed this to religious individuals' belief in punishing gods—that is, if punishing deities are effective in reducing cheating, it follows that this might foster trust for social perceivers. In this paper, my colleagues and I examined whether this finding might instead be linked to the reproductive nature of religions. We found that people's stereotypes about religious individuals reflect their commitment to family, parenting, and monogamy, and that this stereotype seemed to explain why religious people are often more trusted. In fact, Experiment 2 showed that, when information about a target's "dating preferences" is given, their religion is no longer a significant determinant of their perceived trustworthiness.

Chapter 4 consists of two global analyses of religiousness, in press at *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences (Moon et al., 2022). This paper first presents a paradox: many religious traditions seem to favor men at the expense of women (Aksoy, 2017; Blake et al., 2018; Strassmann et al., 2012), yet women are generally more religious than men. In this paper, my colleagues and I examine cross-cultural variation in religiousness for men and women as a function of country-level gender equality. We posited that many of the reproductive affordances of religion would be less useful for men in countries with greater gender equality—for instance, men in egalitarian countries are less able to force women to veil or to use menstrual huts. In both samples, our results showed that men are consistently less religious in countries with greater gender equality, whereas the effect of gender equality on religiousness for women is either null or very small. We interpret these results through a rational choice lens, which suggests that people's religious engagement depends largely on how well their goals align with religious practices and norms.

In sum, the three papers presented here each take a reproductive approach to the scientific study of religion, showing that considering how religions influence reproduction (and vice versa) is crucial for a complete understanding of religion and its effects. This approach has implications not only for religious belief, but also in explaining the social implications of religion and how religious belief varies cross-culturally.

CHAPTER 2

WHY ARE WORLD RELIGIONS SO CONCERNED WITH SEXUAL BEHAVIOR? ABSTRACT

Many religions emphasize the importance of sexual morality. This article argues mating strategies are central to understanding religion. I highlight the reproductivereligiosity model, which suggests that religious behavior is partly motivated by preferences for restricted mating strategies. I then discuss how religion can lead to reproductive benefits. Specifically, religions can make parenting a relatively safer strategy by increasing paternal certainty, which drives men toward parental investment, and alloparenting, which reduces offspring mortality rates. Next, I discuss the social implications of reproductive-religiosity, including mate selection and trust. Finally, I discuss the potential role of mating strategies in the evolution and cultural evolution of religion and discuss future directions for developing an approach to religion rooted in mating interests.

INTRODUCTION

This paper outlines an evolutionary approach to religious belief and behavior, focusing on the ways in which religion may influence and be influenced by mating or reproductive behavior. Religions thrive to the extent that they meet some need or fulfill some desire (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995), and perhaps no human need or desire is "closer to the engine of the evolutionary process" (Buss, 2002, p. 201) than sexual behavior. I first outline the reproductive-religiosity model, which posits that religion serves to promote committed, highly invested, and long-term mating strategies and to impose costs on behavior inconsistent with these mating strategies. Religion, then, is especially attractive to those wishing to follow such a committed mating strategy. I then describe how religions might influence reproductive outcomes, particularly by facilitating highinvestment and high-fertility mating strategies. Next, I discuss how mating strategies might influence the social aspects of religion; that is, people have stereotypes about religion that track these mating strategies, and this has implications for mate preferences as well as trust and cooperation. Lastly, I explore the implications of reproductive religiosity for cultural evolution.

Mating Psychology Influences Religious Belief: The Reproductive-Religiosity Model

Religious belief is complex, and relies on several cognitive and cultural foundations (Mercier et al., 2018). To believe, people must be able to conceptualize deities and also need to live in a culture where religious belief is deemed appropriate. Once these foundations are in place, motivational processes influence religious belief.

According to the reproductive-religiosity model, one especially important motive in religious belief and behavior is mating strategy—those who prefer high-investment, committed reproductive strategies tend to be more religious across the world (Rigo & Saroglou, 2018; Schmitt & Fuller, 2015; Weeden et al., 2008; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013). This committed mating strategy is often operationalized as *restricted sociosexuality*—less permissive attitudes about casual sex, and a decreased likelihood of desiring and engaging in such relationships (Schmitt & Fuller, 2015).

Longitudinal data suggest that, when people are interested in sexual novelty (e.g., young adults) they tend to become less religious (Weeden, 2015), but people interested in family life tend to be especially drawn toward religion, particularly when raising children (McCullough et al., 2005). Rather than religion instilling arbitrary rules about sex in adherents, these findings suggest that people who prefer such high-commitment mating strategies may actually be drawn to religion *because* it supports these strategies (for a review, see Moon et al., 2019).

Religions Influence Sexual and Reproductive Behavior

Mating strategies can influence religion, but are religions successful in providing reproductive benefits to adherents? The most obvious approach to this question is to examine fertility rates—overall, religious people across the world indeed tend to have more children (Blume, 2009; Frejka & Westoff, 2008; Rowthorn, 2011; Zhang, 2008), perhaps due to norms for large families (Norenzayan et al., 2016). In addition to these norms, however, religions might increase fitness by making certain mating behaviors less costly. Specifically, several religious practices may serve to make parenting a relatively "safe" strategy—perhaps especially for men (Blake et al., 2018; Međedović, 2020). Below, I discuss how religion might alter two fundamental *life history tradeoffs* (Hill, 2019) in ways that might facilitate parental investment as well as high fertility lifestyles.

Parenting vs. Mating Effort. Parenting is no small investment—in fact, in strict evolutionary terms, men often benefit by avoiding parenting effort when possible, opting instead for additional mating opportunities (Buss & Schmitt, 2019; Heath & Hadley, 1998). The high cost of parenting is amplified by *paternal uncertainty*—fathers face some risk of investing resources into children that are not genetically related to them. These risks influence how "safe" parenting is. Accordingly, men may be more reluctant to invest in their children when paternal uncertainty is high (Scelza et al., 2020).

How might religion bolster paternal certainty? Simply by increasing the costs of extramarital sex, religions should be able to reduce the frequency of cuckoldry. Some studies suggest that religious individuals are less likely to engage in extramarital affairs (e.g., Burdette et al., 2007). Perhaps more impressively, religious cultures may also influence the sexual behavior of members of other religions: In countries with higher proportions of Muslims, both Muslims and non-Muslims are less likely to report having had premarital sex (Adamczyk & Hayes, 2012). Experimental evidence suggests that religious reminders may even cause immediate psychological shifts, such as increased condemnation of sexual promiscuity (Hone et al., 2021) and, in men, a reduction of behaviors associated with an unrestricted mating strategy (McCullough et al., 2012). In sum, religions likely create environments that shift the cost/benefit ratio of different behaviors in a way that favors committed mating strategies, and these shifts might reduce the prevalence of unrestricted sexual behavior.

Certain religious rituals or traditions may also serve to make infidelity less likely. For instance, one study found that women were rated as less attractive when veiled, which may reduce unwanted sexual advances and thus sexual opportunities for veiling women (Pazhoohi & Hosseinchari, 2014). Perhaps the best evidence for a religion's effects on paternal certainty comes from a study among the Dogon of Mali, West Africa. Dogon men who practice their indigenous religion (but not Christianity) are less likely (1.3% vs. 2.9%) to face cuckoldry, which the authors attribute to the menstrual taboos, including menstrual huts, which allows men and their families to monitor wives during and after menstruation (Strassmann et al., 2012).

Offspring Quantity vs. Quality. Religions may also make parenting a more viable strategy by mitigating tradeoffs between offspring quality and quantity. Generally, there is a tradeoff between offspring quantity and "quality" (i.e., survival)—the number of children tends to covary positively with child mortality rates (Hill, 2019). However, this tradeoff seem to be less steep for religious parents.

Shaver et al. (Shaver et al., 2019) suggest that alloparenting may explain this phenomenon. Religious parents are likely to receive parenting help from co-religionists, and pooling resources together provides efficient means to reduce child mortality while maintaining high fertility rates. In other words, religious people get the best of both worlds in the quality vs. quantity tradeoff, meaning they can pursue a relatively highfertility reproductive strategy but with high survival rates among offspring.

What does this mean for religious individuals? Some of the most salient life history tradeoffs people are forced to make are mitigated by religious cultures—religious people are able to follow a reproductive strategy that allows them simultaneously to have high fertility, high paternal certainty, and low child mortality rates. Given these reproductive benefits, it is no wonder religions are able to persist.

Social Implications

11

In social interaction, people want to know how others will behave, and often rely on stereotypes and other information. Given the associations between religiosity and sexuality, it makes sense that religious people might be perceived as sexually restricted, interested in parenting, and faithful mates. These inferences may be important in both mating and non-mating domains.

Mate Choice. Slone and others (Bulbulia et al., 2015; Slone, 2008; Slone & Van Slyke, 2016; Van Slyke & Szocik, 2020) have proposed a sexual selection approach to religion, arguing that religion provides a solution to a simple coordination problem: mate choice. Men and women both want mates that are faithful, but men are more likely to seek short-term, sexual relationships (Buss & Schmitt, 2019). This conflict provides incentives for people to deceive potential mates about their intentions—men might feign long-term commitment to gain short-term sexual opportunities, whereas women might lie about their willingness to have sex to secure long-term commitment (Buss, 2017).

Religion may offer a solution to this coordination problem. Given the constraints that religions impose on sexuality (as discussed above), religion might be a reliable signal about someone's potential mate qualities. Religion may allow both men and women to signal that they are interested in a long-term, committed, high-investment mating strategy, thus reducing the uncertainty inherent in mate choice (Slone, 2008). Consistent with this hypothesis, Irons (Irons, 2001) states that men of the island of Utila might desire religious wives because they are often away from home and, thus, concerned about their wives being faithful.

Trust. Inferences about religious individuals' mating strategies might also be relevant beyond mating domains. People generally trust religious individuals more than

nonreligious individuals (Hall et al., 2015; Tan & Vogel, 2008). However, it is not clear whether such effects are due to religious beliefs *per se* or whether social perceivers infer some specific set of traits. One set of studies in the United States explored the possibility that perceptions of restricted sexuality facilitate trust toward religious individuals. Religious people were rated more trustworthy than nonreligious individuals, but also as more "committed" (i.e., likely to be faithful mates, dedicated parents, etc.), and perceptions of a committed mating strategy statistically mediated the effect of religion on trust. Moreover, when people were presented as either religious or not and as either committed or uncommitted, it was the committed mating strategy—not religion—that promoted trust. Thus, religious people may be trusted, at least in part, because they are perceived to follow a sexually restricted, long-term mating strategy (Moon et al., 2018).

Taken together, these findings suggest that reproductive-religiosity has important implications for social interaction, and that these are not necessarily attributable to specific religious beliefs. Rather than reflecting intuitions about specific religious beliefs (e.g., trusting those with specific religious beliefs), these results suggest that people sometimes use religion as a social cue to infer specific sets of traits, such as restricted sexuality or closed-mindedness (Jackson et al., 2015; Moon et al., 2018, 2020), and that these inferences drive attitudes and behavior toward religious individuals.

Implications for Cultural Evolution

Many theories emphasize the role of cooperative advantages in explaining the evolution or cultural evolution of world religions (Johnson, 2015; Norenzayan et al., 2016). Again, however, mating strategies may explain a surprising amount about the nature of world religions (Baumard & Chevallier, 2015; Blume, 2009; Slone & Van

Slyke, 2016; Van Slyke & Szocik, 2020). Most straightforwardly, religions with high fertility will naturally grow, even in the face of high detection rates (Rowthorn, 2011).

However, mating systems promoted can influence cultural evolution in other ways, independent of a cooperative benefits. For example, although most cultures throughout history practiced some degree of polygyny, monogamy has been a remarkably successful cultural variant. Henrich et al. (Henrich et al., 2012) argue that normative monogamy is so successful because it has group-beneficial effects: First, unmated men are especially prone to antisocial and criminal behavior, and monogamy pushes many of these men toward marriage and fatherhood, which are associated with reductions in testosterone and a shift toward parenting effort and away from mating effort (Grebe et al., 2019). Further, by reducing the intensity of intrasexual competition, monogamy reduces the need for low status men to engage in impulsive, status-enhancing behavior; women are also forced to compete in polygynous households, and ethnographic evidence suggests some women even fear their children will be poisoned by co-wives (Henrich et al., 2012). Thus, although not all religions promote monogamy, enforcing monogamy can give religions a relative advantage in cultural evolutionary processes (Van Slyke, 2017).

Another line of research suggests that the family systems imposed by the early Roman Catholic Church, including taboos on cousin marriage, led to massive psychological shifts, resulting in the psychological uniqueness of Western societies (Schulz et al., 2019). These family structures may have caused cultures to become more independent, more cooperative with strangers, and ultimately to develop a historically unprecedented psychological profile.

Future Directions

14

Religion largely has to do with human needs (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995). In that spirit, I have presented a model of religion that places one human need—mating behavior—at the forefront. Religion certainly has implications for cooperation, mental health, culture, and intergroup relations, and deserves analysis at different levels of explanation (Mercier et al., 2018). Though mating strategies do not explain everything about religion, one can go surprisingly far in explaining religion using this approach.

Cross-Cultural Variation. Future research would do well to examine crosscultural variation in religion through a reproductive lens. Although the link between sexuality- and marriage-related attitudes and behavior is impressively consistent across cultures (Saroglou, 2019), there is some cultural variation in how religions approach sexuality, marriage, and family. For instance, some religions might suppress female sexuality more than others, or use different rituals (Ellingson & Green, 2013; Reynolds & Tanner, 1995). One promising approach to explaining this variation is the adaptation of behavioral ecology to cultural variation (Botero et al., 2014; Sng et al., 2018; Sosis & Bulbulia, 2011). This view examines how different features of an environment can evoke different distinct patterns of behavior. For example, in environments where parental care is expected to be especially critical, one might expect an increase in practices that mitigate the threats of infidelity, such as veiling (Pazhoohi & Kingstone, 2020).

Similarly, some environmental features (e.g., encountering strangers more frequently) may make it more important for individuals to use religion to "signal" underlying commitments (Irons, 2001). Tracking the commitments people need to display might help explain, for example, specific patterns of who is religious and which religious signals they send to others (Aksoy & Gambetta, 2016; Irons, 2001; Yaffe et al., 2018). A fruitful research program might explore how ecology, by enhancing certain concerns, needs, or desires, might increase the prevalence of religious practices that solve these problems.

Future research might also explore when religion is and is not successful in influencing mating behavior. Although I have argued that religions are often successful, people are highly motivated to follow their mating strategies and are often adept at circumventing religious rules—either by ignoring them or by using mental gymnastics to justify their behavior. For example, infanticide was common when it was banned in Christianity and Islam. However, Christians in medieval Europe often circumvented these prohibitions by labeling children as less than human—as *changelings* that had replaced real children (Hrdy, 1999; cited in Kunz, 2009). Similarly, although the Western Church viewed cousin marriage as immoral (Schulz et al., 2019), it was possible to gain an exception for a fee to the Church (Davidson & Ekelund, 1997).

The Celibacy Puzzle. If religions serve to enhance fertility, the presence of celibate clergy presents an interesting puzzle. Throughout history, religious leaders and shamans often had increased access to sexual opportunities (Buss, 2002; Wright, 2009). Yet Christianity, as well as some other religions, have on occasion mandated celibacy for certain religious leaders (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995).

There are several potential explanations for this phenomenon. First, people may be more likely to enter the priesthood and voluntary celibacy when fewer mates are available (or if mates are less desired) (Deady et al., 2006; Qirko, 2002)—that is, because mating opportunities are few, becoming celibate (and potentially gaining status within one's group) represents a smaller opportunity cost. Second, positions that require celibacy may draw benefits for one's kin (Qirko, 2002). For example, they could gain status or access to resources that make their kin more attractive mates or aid in raising children. In pursuit of these goals, extreme self-denial, such as life-long celibacy, likely helps them gain credibility and trust (Singh & Henrich, 2020). Finally, there is the possibility that vows of celibacy are not always kept: To the extent that celibate men have access to clandestine mating opportunities, any offspring they do have are likely to well cared for by other men (Freyd & Johnson, 1992).

Conclusion

In all, the approach to religion outlined here takes into account the interplay between human needs and the implications of religion for them. Religious systems and the norms they promote have enormous implications for people's goals and needs, and they benefit some people more than others. I suggest that people are attuned to the implications of religious systems for their goals and needs. For some people, religion will be a useful tool, providing security and enhancing their fitness; for others, religion is an obstacle or a burden.

REFERENCES

- Adamczyk, A., & Hayes, B. E. (2012). Religion and sexual behaviors: Understanding the influence of Islamic cultures and religious affiliation for explaining sex outside of marriage. *American Sociological Review*, 77(5), 723–746. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122412458672
- Aksoy, O., & Gambetta, D. (2016). Behind the veil: The strategic use of religious garb. *European Sociological Review*, 32(6), 792–806. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcw035
- Baumard, N., & Chevallier, C. (2015). The nature and dynamics of world religions: A life-history approach. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1818), 20151593. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1593
- Blake, K. R., Fourati, M., & Brooks, R. C. (2018). Who suppresses female sexuality? An examination of support for Islamic veiling in a secular Muslim democracy as a function of sex and offspring sex. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 632–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.006
- Blume, M. (2009). The reproductive benefits of religious affiliation. In E. Voland & W. Schiefenhövel (Eds.), *The biological evolution of religious mind and behavior* (pp. 117–126). Springer.
- Botero, C. A., Gardner, B., Kirby, K. R., Bulbulia, J. A., Gavin, M. C., & Gray, R. D. (2014). The ecology of religious beliefs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(47), 16784–16789. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408701111
- Bulbulia, J. A., Shaver, J. H., Greaves, L., Sosis, R., & Sibley, C. G. (2015). Religion and parental cooperation: An empirical test of Slone's sexual signaling model. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution of religion: Studies, theories and critiques* (pp. 29–62). Collins Foundation Press.
- Burdette, A. M., Ellison, C. G., Sherkat, D. E., & Gore, K. A. (2007). Are there religious variations in marital infidelity? *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(12), 1553–1581. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X07304269
- Buss, D. M. (2002). Sex, marriage, and religion: What adaptive problems do religious phenomena solve? *Psychological Inquiry*, *13*(3), 201–203.
- Buss, D. M. (2017). Sexual conflict in human mating. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 26(4), 307–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417695559

- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (2019). Mate preferences and their behavioral manifestations. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(23), 77–110. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418
- Davidson, A. B., & Ekelund, R. B. (1997). The medieval church and rents from marriage market regulations. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 32(2), 215–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2681(96)00903-1
- Deady, D. K., Law Smith, M. J., Kent, J. P., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (2006). Is priesthood an adaptive strategy? Evidence from a historical Irish population. *Human Nature*, 17(4), 393–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-006-1002-2
- Ellingson, S., & Green, M. C. (Eds.). (2013). *Religion and sexuality in cross-cultural perspective*. Routledge.
- Frejka, T., & Westoff, C. F. (2008). Religion, religiousness and fertility in the US and in Europe. European Journal of Population, 24(1), 5–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-007-9121-y
- Freyd, J. J., & Johnson, J. Q. (1992). The evolutionary psychology of priesthood celibacy. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 15(2), 385. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00069223
- Grebe, N. M., Sarafin, R. E., Strenth, C. R., & Zilioli, S. (2019). Pair-bonding, fatherhood, and the role of testosterone: A meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 98(January), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.01.010
- Hall, D. L., Cohen, A. B., Meyer, K. K., Varley, A. H., & Brewer, G. A. (2015). Costly signaling increases trust, even across religious affiliations. *Psychological Science*, 26(9), 1368–1376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615576473
- Heath, K. M., & Hadley, C. (1998). Dichotomous male reproductive strategies in a polygynous human society: Mating versus parental effort. *Current Anthropology*, 39(3), 369–374.
- Henrich, J., Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (2012). The puzzle of monogamous marriage. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 367(1589), 657–669. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0290
- Hill, K. R. (2019). Anthropological and evolutionary demography. In O. Burger, R. Lee, & R. Sear (Eds.), *Human Evolutionary Demography*. https://osf.io/29wv5/
- Hone, L. S. E., McCauley, T. G., Pedersen, E. J., Carter, E. C., & McCullough, M. E. (2021). The sex premium in religiously motivated moral judgment. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 120(6), 1621–1633. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000296

- Hrdy, S. B. (1999). *Mother nature: A history of mothers, infants, and natural selection*. Pantheon.
- Irons, W. (2001). Religion as a hard-to-fake sign of commitment. In R. M. Nesse (Ed.), *Evolution and the capacity for commitment* (pp. 292–309). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Jackson, J. C., Halberstadt, J., Jong, J., & Felman, H. (2015). Perceived openness to experience accounts for religious homogamy. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 630–638. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550615574302
- Johnson, D. D. P. (2015). *God is watching you: How the fear of God makes us human*. Oxford University Press.
- Kunz, J. (2009). Is there a particular role for ideational aspects of religions in human behavioral ecology? In E. Voland & W. Schiefenhövel (Eds.), *The biological evolution of religious mind and behavior* (pp. 89–104). Springer.
- McCullough, M. E., Carter, E. C., DeWall, C. N., & Corrales, C. M. (2012). Religious cognition down-regulates sexually selected, characteristically male behaviors in men, but not in women. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 33(5), 562–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2012.02.004
- McCullough, M. E., Enders, C. K., Brion, S. L., & Jain, A. R. (2005). The varieties of religious development in adulthood: A longitudinal investigation of religion and rational choice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(1), 78– 89. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.1.78
- Međedović, J. (2020). Examining the link between religiousness and fitness in a behavioural ecological framework. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 52(5), 756– 767. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932019000774
- Mercier, B., Kramer, S. R., & Shariff, A. F. (2018). Belief in God: Why people believe and why they don't. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 27(4), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418754491
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2018). Religious people are trusted because they are viewed as slow life-history strategists. *Psychological Science*, 29(6), 947–960. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617753606
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2020). Opposition to short-term mating predicts anti-atheist prejudice. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 165, Article 110136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110136
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2019). Is nothing sacred? Religion, sex, and reproductive strategies. *Current Directions in*

Psychological Science, 28(4), 361–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419838242

- Norenzayan, A., Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Slingerland, E., Gervais, W. M., McNamara, R. A., & Henrich, J. (2016). The cultural evolution of prosocial religions. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 39, e1. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X14001356
- Pazhoohi, F., & Hosseinchari, M. (2014). Effects of religious veiling on Muslim men's attractiveness ratings of Muslim women. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 43(6), 1083–1086. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0259-5
- Pazhoohi, F., & Kingstone, A. (2020). Sex difference on the importance of veiling: A cross-cultural investigation. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 54(5), 486–501. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397120931031
- Qirko, H. (2002). The institutional maintenance of celibacy. *Current Anthropology*, 43(2), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1086/339380
- Reynolds, V., & Tanner, R. (1995). *The social ecology of religion*. Oxford University Press.
- Rigo, C., & Saroglou, V. (2018). Religiosity and sexual behavior: Tense relationships and underlying affects and cognitions in samples of Christian and Muslim traditions. Archive for the Psychology of Religion, 40(2–3), 176–201. https://doi.org/10.1163/15736121-12341359
- Rowthorn, R. (2011). Religion, fertility and genes: A dual inheritance model. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 278(1717), 2519– 2527. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.2504
- Saroglou, V. (2019). Religion and related morality across cultures. In D. Matsumoto & H. C. Hwang (Eds.), *The Handbook of Culture and Psychology* (pp. 724– 785). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780190679743.003.0022
- Scelza, B. A., Prall, S. P., Blumenfield, T., Crittenden, A. N., Gurven, M., Kline, M., Koster, J., Kushnick, G., Mattison, S. M., Pillsworth, E., Shenk, M. K., Starkweather, K., Stieglitz, J., Sum, C. Y., Yamaguchi, K., & McElreath, R. (2020). Patterns of paternal investment predict cross-cultural variation in jealous response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *4*, 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0654-y
- Schmitt, D. P., & Fuller, R. C. (2015). On the varieties of sexual experience: Crosscultural links between religiosity and human mating strategies. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 7(4), 314–326. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000036

- Schulz, J. F., Bahrami-rad, D., Beauchamp, J. P., & Henrich, J. (2019). The Church, intensive kinship, and global psychological variation. *Science*, 366(707), eaau5141. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau5141
- Shaver, J. H., Sibley, C. G., Sosis, R., Galbraith, D., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2019). Alloparenting and religious fertility: A test of the religious alloparenting hypothesis. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 40(3), 345–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2019.01.004
- Singh, M., & Henrich, J. (2020). Why do religious leaders observe costly prohibitions? Examining taboos on Mentawai shamans. *Evolutionary Human Sciences*, 2, e32. https://doi.org/10.1017/ehs.2020.32
- Slone, D. J. (2008). The attraction of religion: A sexual selectionist account. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution of religion: Studies, theories and critiques* (pp. 181–187). Collins Foundation Press.
- Slone, D. J., & Van Slyke, J. A. (Eds.). (2016). *The attraction of religion: A new evolutionary psychology of religion*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Sng, O., Neuberg, S. L., Varnum, M. E. W., & Kenrick, D. T. (2018). The behavioral ecology of cultural psychological variation. *Psychological Review*, 125(5), 714–743. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000104
- Sosis, R., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2011). The behavioral ecology of religion: The benefits and costs of one evolutionary approach. *Religion*, 41(3), 341–362. https://doi.org/10.1080/0048721X.2011.604514
- Strassmann, B. I., Kurapati, N. T., Hug, B. F., Burke, E. E., Gillespie, B. W., Karafet, T. M., & Hammer, M. F. (2012). Religion as a means to assure paternity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(25), 9781–9785. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110442109
- Tan, J. H. W., & Vogel, C. (2008). Religion and trust: An experimental study. Journal of Economic Psychology, 29, 832–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2008.03.002
- Van Slyke, J. A. (2017). Can sexual selection theory explain the evolution of individual and group-level religious beliefs and behaviors? *Religion, Brain and Behavior*, 7(4), 335–338. https://doi.org/10.1080/2153599X.2016.1249922
- Van Slyke, J. A., & Szocik, K. (2020). Sexual selection and religion: Can the evolution of religion be explained in terms of mating strategies? Archive for the Psychology of Religion, 42(1), 123–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/0084672420909460

- Weeden, J. (2015). Losing my religion: An analysis of the decline in religious attendance from childhood to adulthood. In D. J. Slone & J. A. Van Slyke (Eds.), *The attraction of religion: A new evolutionary psychology of religion*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Weeden, J., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2008). Religious attendance as reproductive support. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 327–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.03.004
- Weeden, J., & Kurzban, R. (2013). What predicts religiosity? A multinational analysis of reproductive and cooperative morals. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 34(6), 440–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2013.08.006
- Wright, R. (2009). The evolution of God. Little, Brown.
- Yaffe, N. M., McDonald, M. M., Halperin, E., & Saguy, T. (2018). God, sex, and money among the ultra-Orthodox in Israel: An integrated sociocultural and evolutionary perspective. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.007
- Zhang, L. (2008). Religious affiliation, religiosity, and male and female fertility. *Demographic Research*, 18, 233–262. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2008.18.8

CHAPTER 3

RELIGIOUS PEOPLE ARE TRUSTED BECAUSE THEY ARE VIEWED AS SLOW LIFE-HISTORY STRATEGISTS

ABSTRACT

Religious people are more trusted than nonreligious people. Although most theorists attribute these perceptions to the beliefs of religious targets, religious individuals also differ in behavioral ways that might cue trust. We examined whether perceivers might trust religious targets more because they heuristically associate religion with slow life-history strategies. In three experiments, we found that religious targets are viewed as slow life-history strategists, and that these findings are not the result of a universally positive halo effect; that the effect of target religion on trust is significantly mediated by the target's life-history traits (i.e., perceived reproductive strategy); and that, when perceivers have direct information about a target's reproductive strategy, their ratings of trust are driven primarily by his or her reproductive strategy, rather than religion. These effects operate over and above targets' belief in moralizing gods, and offer a novel theoretical perspective on religion and trust.

INTRODUCTION

Research has consistently demonstrated that religious targets are viewed as more trustworthy than nonreligious targets (e.g., Tan & Vogel, 2008) and, similarly, atheists tend to be distrusted (Gervais et al., 2011). Gervais and colleagues (2017) found that, across 13 nations, the majority of people—even atheists—tend to associate immoral behavior with atheism.

The prevailing view on religion, irreligion, and trust posits that intuitions about religion and trust are the result of cultural group selection, with shared beliefs in punishing deities allowing large scale cooperation to evolve (Norenzayan et al., 2016; Purzycki et al., 2016; Roes & Raymond, 2003). In this view, religious behavior should facilitate trust primarily toward co-religionists, and particularly when it is diagnostic of belief in moralizing deities. This framework has garnered significant empirical support (e.g., Shariff et al., 2016).

Here, we propose an additional reason why religious behavior might cultivate trust. Specifically, religious individuals tend to differ from nonreligious individuals in more than merely belief—they also tend to behave in ways consistent with a *slow lifehistory strategy* (i.e., they tend to be sexually restricted, invested in family, nonimpulsive, and non-aggressive; Baumard & Chevallier, 2015). These traits are associated with cooperativeness and prosociality. One possibility, then, is that perceivers use religious affiliation or behavior as a cue to infer these traits. Perception of these traits may facilitate trust above and beyond shared belief in supernatural punishment, and may be particularly important in explaining why religious behavior can also facilitate trust in outgroup perceivers (Hall et al., 2015; McCullough et al., 2016).

25

A Life-History Framework

Evolutionary biology's life-history (LH) theory has been used to account for a wide range of behavior, both in humans and in other animals (Stearns, 1992). This theory considers the tradeoffs individuals make to navigate the challenges unique to their environment. In a harsh or unpredictable environment, where the future is less certain, a "fast" LH strategy makes more sense—fast strategists tend to mate early and frequently, discount the future more steeply, display more aggression, and engage in riskier behavior that may have more immediate payoffs (Frankenhuis et al., 2016). In contrast, individuals who come from stable, predictable ecologies tend to adopt a "slow" LH strategy, entailing a later sexual debut, fewer sexual partners, greater parental investment, lower levels aggression and risk-taking, and greater investment in education. These traits and behaviors tend to cluster reliably together on a fast-slow continuum (Ellis et al., 2009) and represent functional adaptations to specific ecologies (Frankenhuis et al., 2016).

LH strategies have important implications for sociality, as extended prosociality and social trust are risky for actors in unpredictable environments (Petersen & Aarøe, 2015; Wilson et al., 2009). Not surprisingly, then, fast strategies and associated traits (e.g., temporal discounting, risk taking, unrestricted sexuality) are highly correlated with several noncooperative or antisocial behaviors (Curry et al., 2008; Ellis et al., 2012; Jonason et al., 2009).

Social perceivers are keenly aware of the implications of LH strategy on their interactions with others, as they intuitively link LH cues (e.g., ecology) with suites of corresponding LH traits (Williams et al., 2016). Because trust is highly related to cooperation (Simpson, 2007), one might expect individuals perceived as fast LH

strategists to be considered poor cooperators and, thus, less trustworthy than those viewed as slow strategists.

Religious Individuals as Slow Life-History Strategists

Recent work has linked religiosity to slow LH strategies (for a review, see Baumard & Chevallier, 2015). Religious individuals tend to display many of the traits evoked by predictable ecologies, including lower levels of temporal discounting, greater self-control, and sexual restrictedness (Carter et al., 2012; McCullough & Willoughby, 2009; Schmitt & Fuller, 2015; Weeden et al., 2008; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013). Religious individuals are much more likely to follow a *committed reproductive strategy*¹, pursuing high-commitment, monogamous relationships, fewer sexual partners, and high parental investment. Some theorists even view religion and moral intuitions as a consequence rather than a cause—of the reproductive or LH strategies people take (Gladden et al., 2009; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013).

The Present Work

One way perceivers might ascertain the likely disposition and cooperative value of others is through LH information, and religion may serve as a valuable heuristic about the LH tactics and, thus, trustworthiness of others. In three experiments, we examined

¹ We use the term "committed reproductive strategy" to denote the restricted sexual lifestyles associated with religion, and we view it as a crucial component of a slow LH strategy. However, slow LH strategists tend to have *fewer* offspring, whereas religious individuals tend to have significantly higher fertility rates than nonreligious individuals (Rowthorn, 2011). We view this inconsistency as the result of cultural evolution (i.e., religions that promoted fecundity were more likely to spread; Richerson & Boyd, 2005; Rowthorn, 2011) and maintain that the psychology of these "committed strategists" is fundamentally "slow." We view investment in offspring (or *quality*) as more indicative of LH strategy than *quantity* of offspring (Ellis et al., 2009). For further discussion on fundamental LH tradeoffs, see Del Giudice, Gangestad, and Kaplan (2015).

whether religious targets are viewed as slow LH strategists and, if so, whether this effect might partly explain why religious individuals are generally deemed more trustworthy. In Experiment 1, we demonstrated that religious (compared to nonreligious) targets are viewed as "slower" in several specific dimensions of LH strategy (i.e., reproductive strategy, impulsivity, aggression, education, and ecology), and were also deemed more trustworthy. In Experiment 2, we manipulated targets' reproductive strategies (a significant mediator in Experiment 1) in addition to their religion. We found that direct information about LH strategy (i.e., the target's "dating preference") tended to override the effects of religious information (cf. Williams et al., 2016). In Experiment 3, we attempted to generalize these results, finding that perceived reproductive strategy statistically mediated trust toward both Christian and Muslim targets in a professional domain. These results suggest that perceivers utilize religion as a LH cue, and trust religious people more because of the (slow) LH strategy they are assumed to take.

EXPERIMENT 1

Experiment 1 had two aims: to examine whether perceptions of religious targets might accurately be categorized as slow LH perceptions and, if so, whether these perceptions might influence trust.

Method

Participants. We conducted a pilot study to estimate the effect of religious information on perceived LH traits. Based on this effect size, we determined we would need 196 participants to detect our effect. As our resources allowed, our final sample exceeded this target. Three hundred thirty six (195 female) workers on Amazon's Mechanical Turk (MTurk) located in the United States received \$0.25 each to complete a

survey on "social perceptions." Participants who had taken part in the pilot study were not able to participate. Participants' ages ranged from 19 to 71, with a median of 33 (M =36.25, SD = 12.73). We excluded 45 participants (including from descriptive statistics) who failed at least one of two attention checks—either answering a question that they were instructed to skip (because participants were unable to *unclick* the question buttons to refrain from answering a question, participants who realized this error and later acknowledged it in their comments to researchers at the end of the study were treated as passing this check) or failing to select "2" in a question that simply instructs participants to click the "2" choice in a multiple choice question.

Procedure and measures. Participants completed a 3-item religiosity scale (1 = *not at all*, 7 = *deeply or extremely*, e.g., "How strongly do you believe in God?", α = .95) based on Cohen, Malka, Rozin, and Cherfas (2006). They also responded to two additional measures included for a separate research question: the attitude facet subscale of the Sociosexual Orientation Inventory-Revised (SOI-R; e.g., "Sex without love is okay", α = .76) on a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 9 (*strongly agree*) scale (Penke & Asendorpf, 2008) and five items assessing self-perceived mate value (e.g., "Members of the opposite sex are attracted to me", α = .88) on a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*) scale (Landolt et al., 1995).

Adapting the methodology of Hall et al. (2015), we randomly assigned participants to view one of four fictitious dating profiles, varying in target sex (male or female) and target religion ("Devoted Christian" vs. "Non-religious"). After viewing the target dating profile, participants answered questions about their perceptions of the target on several dimensions (in random order), using a 7-point scale (1 = *extremely unlikely*, 7
= extremely likely). Finally, participants entered demographic information, including age, gender, sexual orientation, and religious affiliation.

We computed scores for five separate (perceived) LH variables: *reproductive strategy* (seven items, e.g., "Faithful romantic partner", $\alpha = .90$), *non-aggression* (three items, e.g., "Physically aggressive" [reverse coded], $\alpha = .86$), *non-impulsivity* (two items, e.g., "Impulsive" [reverse coded], r = .32, p < .001), *education* (two items, e.g., "Invested in his/her education", r = .78, p < .001), and *hopeful ecology* (single item, "comes from a rough neighborhood" [reverse coded]). We also included one item in which we expected religious targets to be viewed as "fast"—how likely they are to want several children (Rowthorn, 2011). Finally, we assessed perceived mate value (four items, e.g., "Gets a lot of attention from women/men", $\alpha = .90$) and trust (single item).

Results

Are religious targets viewed as slow strategists? We compared perceptions of religious and nonreligious targets in each LH domain (i.e., reproductive strategy, aggression, impulsivity, education, and ecology) as well as mate value and trust (see Fig. 1). We were interested in target sex and participant sex only to the extent that they might moderate the hypothesized main effect of religion on perceived LH traits. Because we failed to find evidence that either target or participant sex moderated the effect, we report the results of independent *t*-tests comparing religious and nonreligious targets (see Table 1). For analyses including these variables, see Supplemental Analyses in the Supplemental Material.



Figure 1.Results from Experiment 1: mean LH inferences, estimated mate value, and trust as a function of target religious claims. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.

As predicted, religious (vs. nonreligious) targets were judged more likely to follow a committed reproductive strategy, less impulsive, less aggressive, more educated, and originating from more hopeful ecologies (i.e., less likely to come from a "rough neighborhood"). Consistent with past research, religious targets were also trusted significantly more than nonreligious targets. Importantly, religious targets were not favored universally, as they were judged similarly in mate value. We consider this to imply that effects of target religion on perceived LH traits are not due to an overall halo effect.

	Religious Target $(n = 166)$		Nonreligious Target $(n = 170)$					
	М	SD	М	SD	t	р	95% CI for the difference	Cohen's d
Reproductive	5.45	1.01	4.33	0.92	10.66	<.001	[0.91, 1.33]	1.16
Strategy								
(Non)Impulsivity	4.94	1.06	4.25	1.05	5.96	<.001	[0.46, 0.91]	0.65
(Non)Aggression	5.60	1.14	5.16	1.19	3.49	<.001	[0.19, 0.69]	0.38
Education	5.39	1.00	5.03	1.20	2.98	.003	[0.12, 0.60]	0.33
Hopeful Ecology	5.72	1.21	5.34	1.32	2.76	.006	[0.11, 0.65]	0.30
Mate Value	5.37	1.07	5.35	1.14	0.15	.885	[-0.22, 0.25]	0.02
Trust	5.31	1.04	4.68	1.10	5.42	< .001	[0.40, 0.86]	0.59

Table 1. Effects of Target Religion on Perceived Life-History Traits, Mate Value, and Trust in Experiment 1.

Note: Each row represents the results of an independent *t*-test (df = 334) comparing perceptions of religious and nonreligious targets.

Do LH intuitions mediate effects on trust? We performed a parallel multiple mediation analysis (Hayes, 2012) in which we tested whether the effect of portraying a target person as religious had on participant ratings of trust were significantly mediated by perceived LH traits. We used 5,000 bootstrapped iterations to compute a bias-corrected 95% confidence interval (CI) for the indirect effects.

As shown in Figure 2, the effect of target religion on trust was significantly mediated by perceived reproductive strategy, b = 0.36, SE = 0.09, 95% CI = [0.19, 0.55], as well as perceived education, b = 0.09, SE = 0.05, 95% CI = [0.03, 0.21]. Other indirect effects were not significant, nor was the direct effect, b = 0.07, SE = 0.11, p > .250. This analysis suggests that religious individuals are viewed as trustworthy in part because they are slow LH strategists, and perceived reproductive strategy seems to be a particularly strong determinant of trust.



Figure 2. Parallel multiple mediation model depicting the effect of target religion on trust as mediated by perceived LH traits in Experiment 1. The variable for target religious claims was dummy coded (0 = nonreligious, 1 = religious).

Does participant religiosity moderate the effect of target religion on trust?

Although religious targets were trusted more than nonreligious targets, one possibility is that this effect was driven solely by religious participants. Thus, we tested whether participants' self-reported religiosity moderated the effect of target religion on trust. We regressed target religion (dummy coded), participant religiosity (centered), and their interaction on trust. While religiosity had no main effect (p > .250), there was a main effect of target religion, t(332) = 10.82, p < .001, b = 1.11, 95% CI = [0.91, 1.32], qualified by a significant interaction between target religion and religiosity, t(332) = 2.92, p = .004, b = 0.17, 95% CI = [0.05, 0.28]. Simple slope analyses suggested that the effect was strongest for participants high in religiosity, t(332) = 5.91, p < .001, b = 0.96, 95% CI = [0.64, 1.28], but remained marginally significant for those low in religiosity, t(332) = 1.78, p = .076, b = 0.29, 95% CI = [-0.03, 0.61]. That is, even participants low in religiosity (1.38 on a 1 to 7 scale) tended to trust the religious target more than the target

who ostensibly shares their beliefs. This finding is consistent with recent research suggesting that nonreligious individuals associate atheism with immorality, albeit to a lesser extent than more religious individuals (Gervais et al., 2017).

We additionally used Model 59 of PROCESS (which allows the moderator to interact with all three paths in the model; Hayes, 2012) to test whether the indirect effect of target religion on trust (via perceived reproductive strategy) held at varying levels (\pm 1 SD) of participant religiosity. We were specifically interested in whether this effect held for participants low in religiosity. The indirect effect was stronger among more religious participants, but remained significant at all levels of participant religiosity: low, *b* = 0.46, *SE* = 0.11, 95% CI = [0.28, 0.71], average, *b* = 0.63, *SE* = 0.08, 95% CI = [0.48, 0.82], and high, *b* = 0.78, *SE* = 0.13, 95% CI = [0.54, 1.05]. The direct effect was not significant at any level of religiosity (*ps* > .246).

EXPERIMENT 2

Experiment 1 demonstrated that religious targets are viewed as slow LH strategists and are more trusted, and a mediation analysis suggested that religious people are more trusted because of their perceived slow LH strategy (especially their reproductive strategy). We reasoned that, if perceivers view religious targets as trustworthy primarily because they also view them as committed reproductive strategists, providing direct information about their committed reproductive strategies may "override" the effects of religious claims (for a similar design, see Williams et al., 2016). That is, we hypothesized that perceivers would base their ratings primarily on direct LH information (i.e., a target's reproductive strategy) rather than a cue (religion) that imperfectly predicts LH information. To test this hypothesis, we utilized a concurrent double randomization design, independently manipulating both targets' religious claims as well as their reproductive strategies. This design allowed us to test the causal effect of the the proposed mediator (perceived reproductive strategy) on trust (Pirlott & MacKinnon, 2016). Additionally, we measured perceptions that the target believed in divine punishment ("big gods"), to see if effects of LH strategy on trust would operate over and above the potential effect of the target's perceived belief in big gods.

Method

Participants. We sought to obtain at least 100 participants per cell for a 2×2 design, allowing for potential exclusions based on attention checks. Thus, we recruited 445 participants (203 female, 2 not reported) via TurkPrime (Litman et al., 2017) to complete a survey about "impressions of others" in exchange for \$0.50. Ages ranged from 19 to 72, with a median age of 33 (M = 35.12, SD = 10.37). Participants were restricted to the United States, and we restricted availability to those who had not participated in Experiment 1 or our pilot study. We also excluded 30 participants who failed at least one of two attention checks instructing them to select "6" to demonstrate that they are paying attention; these participants were excluded from all analyses, including the descriptive results above.

Procedure and measures. The procedure was similar to Experiment 1. Participants first responded to an 8-item measure of religiosity (based on Cohen et al., 2006) using a 7-point scale (1 = not at all, 7 = deeply or extremely, e.g., "How religious are you?", $\alpha = .97$), the SOI-R attitude facet ($\alpha = .85$), and a measure of belief in "big gods" on a 7-point scale (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree, e.g., "I believe God punishes people for immoral behavior", $\alpha = .96$) based on the "big god" beliefs posited by Norenzayan et al. (2016).

Next, participants randomly viewed a social media style profile varying in sex (male or female), religious claims ("Devout Christian" or "Non-religious"), and "dating preferences" ("I don't see myself settling down any time soon, I enjoy playing the field and meeting a lot of new people" or "My goal is to find that special someone, settle down, and start a family"). Distractor information was identical for all conditions.

After viewing the profile, participants indicated how likely they thought it was that several traits or behaviors applied to the target, using a Likert-type scale (1 = *extremely unlikely*, 7 = *extremely likely*). We assessed the following LH perceptions: *reproductive strategy* (same scale as Experiment 1, α = .94); *impulsivity* (7-item scale, e.g., "Acts impulsively", α = .93), *opportunistic behavior* (3-item measure, e.g., "Physically aggressive", α = .92), *ecology* (3-item scale, e.g., "Came from a rough neighborhood", α = .82), and *education* (2-item measure, e.g., "Invested in his/her education", *r* = .82, *p* < .001). We also assessed how much targets were perceived to believe in big gods (using the same beliefs as the participant measure, but directed at the target; α = .98) and trust (6-item measure adapted from Hall et al., 2015, e.g., "Is trustworthy", α = .93), and four distractor items unrelated to LH strategy (i.e., athletic, stylish, annoying, and reserved).

Results

Collapsing across participant and target sex², analyses consisted of a series of 2 (Target Religion) × 2 (Target Reproductive Strategy) ANOVAs—one for each outcome measured (see Table 2, Fig. 3). Measures of perceived reproductive strategy and belief in moralizing gods suggest that the manipulations had significant effects: committed strategists (vs. uncommitted strategists) were in fact judged more likely to be committed strategists, F(1, 441) = 592.66, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .573$, and so were religious (vs. nonreligious) targets, F(1, 441) = 22.13, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .048$. Religious (vs. nonreligious) targets were viewed as significantly more likely to believe in big gods, F(1, 439) =589.21, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .573$, and so were committed (vs. uncommitted) strategists, F(1, 439) =25.89, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .056$.

There was a main effect of target religion on perceived impulsivity, such that religious targets were judged somewhat less impulsive than nonreligious targets. However, target reproductive strategy had a considerably stronger effect, such that committed strategists were viewed as significantly less impulsive than uncommitted strategists. Further, there were significant main effects of target strategy (but not target religion), such that committed (vs. uncommitted (vs. uncommitted) strategists were viewed as "slower" in several ways—less likely to exhibit opportunistic behavior, more likely to come from an abundant or predictable ecology, and more likely to be educated and invested in education. Finally, religious targets were viewed as marginally more

² Although we were primarily interested in the effects of target religion and target reproductive strategy, we manipulated target sex to be consistent with Experiment 1. Results of the 2 (Target Sex) \times 2 (Target Religion) \times 2 (Target Reproductive Strategy) for each outcome are reported in the Supplemental Analyses in the Supplemental Material. Results do not alter conclusions.

trustworthy than nonreligious targets ($\eta_p^2 = .008$), but target reproductive strategy had a markedly stronger effect, with committed strategists being rated as significantly more trustworthy ($\eta_p^2 = .197$).

Trate and Trast in Experiment 2								
		Target Religion			Target Reproductive Strategy			
Outcome	df	F	${\eta_p}^2$	р	F	${\eta_p}^2$	р	
(Non)Impulsivity	1,441	16.37	.036	<.001	323.72	.423	< .001	
(Non)Opportunistic	1,441	2.63	.006	.106	24.31	.052	< .001	
Behavior								
Hopeful Ecology	1,441	3.29	.007	.070	7.04	.016	.008	
Education	1,441	0.06	.000	.814	62.02	.123	< .001	
Trust	1,440	3.69	.008	.055	108.15	.197	< .001	

Table 2. Effects of Target Religion and Target Reproductive Strategy on Perceived Life-History

 Traits and Trust in Experiment 2

Note: Each row represents the results of a 2 (Target Religion) \times 2 (Target Reproductive Strategy) ANOVA with the outcome as a dependent variable. The tests reported represent the main effect of each factor, respectively. Degrees of freedom apply to both main effects. The Target Religion \times Target Reproductive Strategy interaction was not significant for any of the outcomes measured (<u>ps</u> > .102).



Figure 3. Results from Experiment 2: mean LH inferences and trust as a function of the target's religious claims and reproductive strategy. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.

Do belief in big gods or LH traits mediate the effect of committed

reproductive strategies on trust? One possibility is that, although ratings of trust seem to track reproductive strategy rather than religion, perceivers assume that committed strategists are more likely to believe in God or gods. Gervais and colleagues (2017) found, for instance, that a priest who molested children was rated likely to be an atheist. Indeed, our analysis did indicate that committed strategists were judged somewhat more likely to believe in big gods. To test whether this might explain the effect on trust, we conducted a mediation analysis to examine whether the main effect of target reproductive strategy on trust could be explained partially by their perceived greater belief in big gods. This analysis used the same approach to mediation as Experiment 1.

With perceived belief in big gods as the only mediator (i.e., Reproductive Strategy \rightarrow Big God Beliefs \rightarrow Trust), the indirect effect was significant, b = 0.05, SE = 0.02, 95% CI = [0.01, 0.11], suggesting significant mediation. The direct effect of reproductive strategy was still significant, b = 0.96, SE = 0.10, 95% CI = [0.77, 1.16].

To examine whether other LH traits (e.g., impulsivity, opportunistic behavior) might mediate the effect, we conducted a multiple mediation analysis to estimate the effect of reproductive strategy on trust with the following mediators: perceived big god beliefs, non-impulsivity, non-opportunistic behavior, education, and hopeful ecology (see Fig. 4). In this model, perceived big god beliefs did not significantly mediate the effect, *b* = 0.004, *SE* = 0.09, 95% CI = [-0.01, 0.03]. However, three of the four LH variables significantly mediated the effect of reproductive strategy on trust: non-impulsivity, *b* = 0.59, *SE* = 0.09, 95% CI = [0.43, 0.79], non-opportunistic behavior, *b* = 0.09, *SE* = 0.03, 95% CI = [0.04, 0.17], and education, *b* = 0.28, *SE* = 0.05, 95% CI = [0.19, 0.39], but not hopeful ecology, b = -0.008, SE = 0.01, 95% CI = [-0.03, 0.01]. The direct effect was not significant in this model, b = 0.05, SE = 0.09, 95% CI = [-0.13, 0.23].



Figure 4. Parallel multiple mediation model depicting the effect of target reproductive strategy on trust as mediated by perceived LH traits and perceived big god beliefs in Experiment 2. The variable for target reproductive strategy was dummy coded (0 = uncommitted, 1 = committed).

Does participant religiosity moderate the observed effect? We again tested whether participant religiosity might qualify the observed effects. We regressed target religion (contrast coded: -0.5 = nonreligious, 0.5 = religious), target strategy (contrast coded: -0.5 = uncommitted, 0.5 = committed), participant religiosity (centered), and their interactions on our trust measure. In this model, there was a significant effect of target religion, t(436) = 2.45, p = .015, b = 0.25, 95% CI = [0.05, 0.44], and a main effect of target strategy, t(436) = 10.32, p < .001, b = 1.03, 95% CI = [0.83, 1.23], such that religious (vs. nonreligious) targets were trusted more, and committed (vs. uncommitted) targets were trusted more. There was one significant interaction (all other ps > .250)

between target strategy and participant religiosity, t(436) = 3.73, p < .001, b = 0.20, 95% CI = [0.09, 0.30], such that more religious participants tended to rate the committed (vs. uncommitted) strategists as especially trustworthy. Probing the interaction at low (-1 SD) and high (+1 SD) values of participant religiosity revealed that participants low in religiosity tended to trust the committed targets more than the uncommitted targets, t(436) = 4.65, p < .001, b = 0.66, 95% CI = [0.38, 0.93], and that participants high in religiosity also trusted the committed targets more than the uncommitted targets and did so to a greater extent, t(436) = 9.86, p < .001, b = 1.40, 95% CI = [1.13, 1.68]. This finding is consistent with our claim that reproductive strategy largely overrides the heuristic value of religion.

EXPERIMENT 3

Experiments 1 and 2 operationalized the target person's religion as Christianity; however, other researchers (Gervais et al., 2011; Hall et al., 2015) have demonstrated that both Christian and Muslim targets are trusted more than nonreligious targets. In Experiment 3, we tested whether perceived reproductive strategies mediate trust toward both Christian and Muslim targets. Further, whereas Experiment 1 used dating profiles and Experiment 2 used social media profiles, we sought to generalize our results to a professional context.

Method

Participants. Based on the smaller effect sizes found in Experiment 1, we estimated that we would need at least 301 participants for adequate (.80) power. Three hundred ninety-two (210 female) participants received \$0.50 to complete a survey on person perception via TurkPrime, again excluding past participants. Participant ages

ranged from 18 to 77, with a median of 32 (M = 34.89, SD = 11.11). We excluded 20 participants from all analyses (including descriptive statistics) who failed one or more attention checks of the same kind used in Experiment 2.

Procedure and measures. Participants completed the same measures as Experiment 2: religiosity (α = .96), SOI-R attitude facet (α = .83), and big god beliefs (α = .96). They then viewed a randomly assigned profile from a "business- and employment-oriented social networking website." Each profile was a young male listed as an accountant; under the "What to know about me" section, he self-identified either as a devoted Christian who attends church regularly, a devoted Muslim who attends mosque regularly, or a nonreligious person who does not follow any particular religion. Other distractor information was included and held constant across profiles. To avoid priming mating, we neither included any information about nor explicitly manipulated target reproductive strategy.

After viewing the profile, participants responded to the same series of perceived LH measures used in Experiment 2, again on a 1 (*extremely unlikely*) to 7 (*extremely likely*) scale: *reproductive strategy* ($\alpha = .91$), *non-impulsivity* ($\alpha = .88$), *non-opportunistic behavior* ($\alpha = .94$), *education* (r = .78, p < .001), and *ecology* ($\alpha = .76$). Participants responded to five face-valid "accountancy trust" items (e.g., "You would trust him with your bank account information", $\alpha = .89$). Next, to measure general trust, they responded to the 6-item trust measure used in Experiment 2 (Hall et al., 2015), which we combined with Cottrell, Neuberg, and Li's (2007) established trust measure (e.g., "Honest", $\alpha = .95$). We used the same measure of the target's perceived belief in big gods ($\alpha = .98$) and distractor items as Experiment 2.

Results

As shown in Table 3, target religion had a significant main effect on general trust, p < .001. Pairwise comparisons revealed that both the Christian (p < .001) and the Muslim (p = .043) targets were judged more trustworthy than the nonreligious target. Although the pattern of means was similar in the exploratory accountancy trust scale (see Fig. 5), the main effect of target religion was not significant (p > .250), and there were no significant pairwise differences (ps > .148).

The patterns for other LH variables were similar to Experiment 1, with some slight exceptions. First, the Muslim and nonreligious targets were rated similarly on non-opportunistic behavior and ecology (possibly due to the inferred racial dimension of being Muslim). Second, target religion had no main effect on perceived education (p > .250), perhaps because the target identified himself as an accountant, leaving less ambiguity. Most importantly, the Christian and Muslim targets were both rated as more committed reproductive strategists than the nonreligious target (ps < .001).

	Nonre Target (ligious $n = 131$)	Christian Target $(n = 130)$		Muslim $(n = 1)$	Muslim Target $(n = 131)$			
Outcome	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	F	р	η^2
Reproductive	4.33 _a	0.85	5.58 _c	0.97	5.31b	1.11	58.83	< .001	.230
Strategy									
(Non)	4.59_a	0.99	5.23b	0.90	5.02 _b	0.99	15.01	<.001	.072
Impulsivity									
(Non)	5.34_a	1.31	5.82b	1.23	5.35_a	1.36	5.79	.003	.029
Opportunistic									
Education	5.53_a	0.98	5.70_a	1.17	5.72_{a}	1.17	1.24	.291	.006
Hopeful	4.81_{ab}	1.04	5.04_b	1.10	4.61 _a	0.99	5.53	.004	.028
Ecology									
General	4.91 _a	0.93	5.44 _c	1.03	5.16 _b	1.04	8.94	<.001	.044
Trust									
Accountancy	4.66_{a}	1.32	4.90_a	1.30	4.78_{a}	1.39	1.04	.353	.005
Trust									

Table 3. Effects of Target Religion on Perceived Life-History Traits and Trust in Experiment 3.

Note: Each row represents main effect of a one-way ANOVA (df = 2, 389) comparing perceptions of nonreligious, Christian, and Muslim targets. Means with different subscripts are significantly different from each other (p < .05).



Figure 5. Results from Experiment 3: mean trust ratings as a function of target religion. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.

Do LH perceptions mediate the effect on trust? Following Hayes and Preacher (2014), we used 5,000 bootstrapped iterations to compute a bias-corrected 95% CI for the indirect effects, using two dummy coded variables to represent the effect for the Christian condition (Nonreligious = 0, Christian = 1, Muslim = 0) and the Muslim condition (Nonreligious = 0, Christian = 0, Muslim = 1).

Consistent with Experiment 1, perceived reproductive strategy arose as a significant mediator of general trust for both Christian and Muslim targets (see Fig. 6). Non-impulsivity was also a significant mediator for both targets, and non-opportunistic behavior was a significant mediator for the Christian target only. The direct effect was

not significant for the Christian target, b = -0.10, SE = 0.09, 95% CI = [-0.27, 0.08], or for the Muslim target, b = -0.15, SE = 0.09, 95% CI = [-0.32, 0.02].



Figure 6. Parallel multiple mediation model depicting the effect of target religion on general trust as mediated by perceived LH traits in Experiment 3. Where there are two coefficients, b_C shows results for the Christian condition, and b_M shows results for the Muslim target, relative to the nonreligious condition.

Using the accountancy trust scale yielded similar results; reproductive strategy was a significant mediator for both the Christian, b = 0.34, SE = 0.10, 95% CI = [0.15, 0.56], and the Muslim target, b = 0.27, SE = 0.08, 95% CI = [0.12, 0.45]. Nonimpulsivity also mediated the effect for the Christian, b = 0.17, SE = 0.06, 95% CI = [0.07, 0.31], and the Muslim target, b = 0.11, SE = 0.05, 95% CI = [0.04, 0.23]. Other indirect effects (non-opportunistic behavior, education, and ecology) were not significant. The direct effects were slightly, but significantly negative for both the Christian, b = -0.38, SE = 0.15, 95% CI = [-0.68, -0.08], and the Muslim target, b = 0.30, SE = 0.15, 95% CI = [-0.59, -0.02]. **Does participant religiosity moderate the effect?** We again tested whether participant religiosity moderated the effect of target religion on trust. Using the general trust scale and the same dummy coded variables, the Christian target was trusted significantly more than the nonreligious target, t(386) = 4.15, p < .001, b = 0.51, 95% CI = [0.27, 0.75], and the Muslim target was trusted marginally more, t(386) = 1.89, p = .059, b = 0.23, 95% CI = [-0.01, 0.47]. Participant religiosity significantly moderated the effect toward the Christian target, t(386) = 3.45, p = .001, b = 0.22, 95% CI = [0.09, 0.34], but not toward the Muslim target (p > .250). Simple slope analyses revealed that participants high in religiosity were more trusting toward the Christian target, t(386) = 5.53, p < .001, b = 0.93, 95% CI = [0.60, 1.26], but the effect was not significant for participants low in religiosity (p > .250).

Using the accountancy trust scale, neither the Christian (p = .190) nor the Muslim (p > .250) target were rated more trustworthy than the nonreligious target. However, religiosity again moderated the effect for the Christian target, t(386) = 3.79, p < .001, b = 0.32, 95% CI = [0.15, 0.49]. Simple slope analysis revealed that, among participants high in religiosity, the Christian target was rated as a more trustworthy accountant than the nonreligious target, t(386) = 3.72, p < .001, b = 0.83, 95% CI = [0.39, 1.28]. However, among participants low in religiosity, the Christian target was judged to be a marginally *less* trustworthy accountant than the nonreligious target, t(386) = -1.72, p = .086, b = -0.41, 95% CI = [-0.87, 0.06].

As in Experiment 1, we again used Model 59 of PROCESS (Hayes, 2012) to test whether the indirect effect of target religion on general trust (via perceived reproductive strategy) held across levels (± 1 SD) of participant religiosity, and specifically whether

this effect held even for those participants low in religiosity We computed two separate analyses comparing the nonreligious target to the Christian and to the Muslim, respectively. For the Christian target, the mediation effect was significant at the low, b =0.76, SE = 0.13, 95% CI = [0.52, 1.05], average, b = 0.81, SE = 0.10, 95% CI = [0.63, 1.02], and high, b = 0.77, SE = 0.17, 95% CI = [0.47, 1.16], levels of religiosity. The direct effect was significantly *negative* at the low, b = -0.68, SE = 0.15, 95% CI = [-0.98, -0.38], and average, b = -0.23, SE = 0.11, 95% CI = [-0.46, -0.01], levels of religiosity, but not at high religiosity (b = 0.22, p = .223).

For the Muslim target, the indirect effect was also significant at the low, b = 0.54, SE = 0.12, 95% CI = [0.32, 0.79], average, b = 0.61, SE = 0.08, 95% CI = [0.45, 0.80], and high, b = 0.66, SE = 0.14, 95% CI = [0.42, 0.99], levels of religiosity. The direct effect was again significantly negative at the low, b = -0.37, SE = 0.15, 95% CI = [-0.67, -0.08], average, b = -0.37, SE = 0.11, 95% CI = [-0.58, -0.16], and high, b = -0.36, SE = 0.16, 95% CI = [-0.68, -0.05], levels of religiosity.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

We investigated whether religious targets are viewed as slow LH strategists and, if so, whether this may explain effects of religious claims on trust. Experiment 1 demonstrated that religious targets (compared to nonreligious targets) were rated as "slower" across LH domains, but were not judged to be more appealing mates (i.e., it was not a universal "halo" effect). They were also rated as more trustworthy, and the effect of target religion on of trust was statistically mediated by perceived reproductive strategy. Experiment 3 showed that this mediation holds for both Christian and Muslim targets in a professional domain. Experiment 2 independently manipulated both the religion and reproductive strategy of targets to test whether "direct" LH information might take precedence over religion in influencing ratings of trust. When participants were given targets' reproductive strategies, the same religious manipulation used in Experiment 1, which had a significant effect, became markedly less important, and target religion had only a marginally significant effect on trust.

Past research has posited that religious individuals are trusted in part because they believe they are being watched by a morally concerned god (Gervais et al., 2011). Here, we tested a novel explanation for the robust finding that religious targets tend to be trusted more than nonreligious targets. Whereas these two explanations are not mutually exclusive, our data suggest the effects of LH intuitions operate above and beyond shared beliefs in monitoring gods to cultivate trust. Consistent with Hall and colleagues (2015), our data suggest that perceivers are perhaps less concerned with targets' specific beliefs, and more interested in the likely behavior they can infer from religious information. Because religion is not the only behavior cue (and may not even be the strongest), the presence of other information may diminish the effect of religion or, in some cases, override it.

Indeed, our results suggest that simply knowing someone's reproductive strategy was sufficient to diminish drastically the effect of religion. Given the relative consistency of trust ratings based on religious information (both in our data and in past research), it is striking that any single piece of additional information might diminish or override this phenomenon. This finding may present a hopeful picture for anti-atheist bias in interpersonal contexts. Cottrell and Neuberg (2005) proposed that prejudices toward

49

different groups are rooted in the specific threats they are perceived to pose. Individuals often act in ways to counteract specific prejudices—Black men might whistle classical music to self-present as non-threatening, and obese individuals might practice excellent hygiene to avoid being seen as a disease threat (Neel et al., 2013). One simple way for nonreligious individuals to counteract prejudice, then, might be to present themselves as family-oriented or invested in monogamous relationships.

Viewing religion as a LH cue may further lead to nuanced hypotheses about when religious individuals might *not* be favored. Given the specific traits that religion seems to cue, it may be possible to find instances where the same religious individuals are viewed positively (e.g., trustworthy) on one hand, but negatively (e.g., closed-minded) on the other. Further, whether an individual views religion favorably or not may depend on his or her current motives (Cohen & Moon, 2017).

Some have provocatively claimed that religiosity is essentially a reflection of mating or LH strategies (Weeden et al., 2008); in this view, religion is motivated mainly by restricted and monogamous sexual strategies. In our view, religion is a complex and nuanced phenomenon that cannot be reduced to any single motive. Nonetheless, our data suggest that perceivers may use religion heuristically to infer committed reproductive strategies and a suite of slow LH traits. These traits may, in turn, influence perceptions of trust.

50

REFERENCES

- Baumard, N., & Chevallier, C. (2015). The nature and dynamics of world religions: A life-history approach. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1818), 20151593. http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1593
- Carter, E. C., McCullough, M. E., Kim-Spoon, J., Corrales, C., & Blake, A. (2012). Religious people discount the future less. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 33(3), 224–231. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2011.09.006
- Cohen, A. B., Malka, A., Rozin, P., & Cherfas, L. (2006). Religion and unforgivable offenses. *Journal of Personality*, 74(1), 85–117. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00370.x
- Cohen, A. B., & Moon, J. W. (2017). Psychology: Atheism and moral intuitions. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1, 0157. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0157
- Cottrell, C. A., & Neuberg, S. L. (2005). Different emotional reactions to different groups: A sociofunctional threat-based approach to "prejudice". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(5), 770–789. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.5.770
- Cottrell, C. A., Neuberg, S. L., & Li, N. P. (2007). What do people desire in others? A sociofunctional perspective on the importance of different valued characteristics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(2), 208–231. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.2.208
- Curry, O. S., Price, M. E., & Price, J. G. (2008). Patience is a virtue: Cooperative people have lower discount rates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44, 778–783. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.09.023
- Del Giudice, M., Gangestad, S. W., & Kaplan, H. S. (2015). Life history theory and evolutionary psychology. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), *The handbook of evolutionary psychology* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Wiley and Sons.
- Ellis, B. J., Del Giudice, M., Dishion, T. J., Gray, P., Hawley, P. H., Jacobs, W. J., ...
 Wilson, D. S. (2012). The evolutionary basis of risky adolescent behavior: Implications for science, policy, and practice. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(3), 598–623. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0026220
- Ellis, B. J., Figueredo, A. J., Brumbach, B. H., & Schlomer, G. L. (2009). Fundamental dimensions of environmental risk: The impact of harsh versus unpredictable environments on the evolution and development of life history strategies. *Human Nature*, 20(2), 204–268. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-009-9063-7
- Frankenhuis, W. E., Panchanathan, K., & Nettle, D. (2016). Cognition in harsh and unpredictable environments. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 7, 76–80.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.08.011

- Gervais, W. M., Shariff, A. F., & Norenzayan, A. (2011). Do you believe in atheists? Distrust is central to anti-atheist prejudice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(6), 1189–1206. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0025882
- Gervais, W. M., Xygalatas, D., McKay, R. T., van Elk, M., Buchtel, E. E., Aveyard, M., ... Bulbulia, J. (2017). Global evidence of extreme intuitive moral prejudice against atheists. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1, 0151. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0151
- Gladden, P. R., Welch, J., Figueredo, A. J., & Jacobs, W. J. (2009). Moral intuitions and religiosity as spuriously correlated life history traits. *Journal of Evolutionary Psychology*, 7, 167–184. http://doi.org/10.1556/JEP.7.2009.2.5
- Hall, D. L., Cohen, A. B., Meyer, K. K., Varley, A. H., & Brewer, G. A. (2015). Costly signaling increases trust, even across religious affiliations. *Psychological Science*, 26(9), 1368–1376. http://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615576473
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). PROCESS: A versatile computational tool for observed variable mediation, moderation, and conditional process modeling [White paper]. Retrieved from http://www.afhayes.com/ public/process2012.pdf
- Hayes, A. F., & Preacher, K. J. (2014). Statistical mediation analysis with a multicategorical independent variable. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 67(3), 451–470. http://doi.org/10.1111/bmsp.12028
- Jonason, P. K., Li, N. P., & Webster., G. D. (2009). The dark triad: Traits that facilitate short-term mating in men. *European Journal of Personality*, 23(1), 5–18. http://doi.org/10.1002/per.698
- Landolt, M. A., Lalumière, M. L., & Quinsey, V. L. (1995). Sex differences in intra-sex variations in human mating tactics: An evolutionary approach. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 16, 3–23.
- Litman, L., Robinson, J., & Abberbock, T. (2017). TurkPrime.com: A versatile crowdsourcing data acquisition platform for the behavioral sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(2), 433–442. http://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0727-z
- McCullough, M. E., Swartwout, P., Carter, E. C., Shaver, J. H., & Sosis, R. (2016). Christian religious badges instill trust in Christian and non-Christian perceivers. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 8(2), 149–163. http://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000045
- McCullough, M. E., & Willoughby, B. L. B. (2009). Religion, self-regulation, and selfcontrol: Associations, explanations, and implications. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(1), 69–93. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0014213

- Neel, R., Neufeld, S. L., & Neuberg, S. L. (2013). Would an obese person whistle Vivaldi? Targets of prejudice self-present to minimize appearance of specific threats. *Psychological Science*, 24(5), 678–687. http://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612458807
- Norenzayan, A., Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Slingerland, E., Gervais, W. M., McNamara, R. A., & Henrich, J. (2016). The cultural evolution of prosocial religions. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 39, 1–18. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X14001356
- Penke, L., & Asendorpf, J. B. (2008). Beyond global sociosexual orientations: A more differentiated look at sociosexuality and its effects on courtship and romantic relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(5), 1113–1135. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.95.5.1113
- Petersen, M. B., & Aarøe, L. (2015). Birth weight and social trust in adulthood: Evidence for early calibration of social cognition. *Psychological Science*, 26(11), 1681–1692. http://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615595622
- Pirlott, A. G., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2016). Design approaches to experimental mediation. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 66, 29–38. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2015.09.012
- Purzycki, B. G., Apicella, C., Atkinson, Q. D., Cohen, E., McNamara, R. A., Willard, A. K., ... Henrich, J. (2016). Moralistic gods, supernatural punishment and the expansion of human sociality. *Nature*, 530, 327–330. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature16980
- Richerson, P. J., & Boyd, R. (2005). Not by genes alone: How culture transformed human evolution. London: University of Chicago Press.
- Roes, F. L., & Raymond, M. (2003). Belief in moralizing gods. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 24(2), 126–135. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-5138(02)00134-4
- Rowthorn, R. (2011). Religion, fertility and genes: A dual inheritance model. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278(1717), 2519–2527. http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.2504
- Schmitt, D. P., & Fuller, R. C. (2015). On the varieties of sexual experience: Crosscultural links between religiosity and human mating strategies. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 7(4), 314–326. http://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000036
- Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Andersen, T., & Norenzayan, A. (2016). Religious priming: A meta-analysis with a focus on prosociality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 20, 27–48. http://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314568811

Simpson, J. A. (2007). Psychological foundations of trust. Current Directions in

Psychological Science, 16(5), 264–268.

Stearns, S. C. (1992). The evolution of life histories. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Tan, J. H. W., & Vogel, C. (2008). Religion and trust: An experimental study. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29, 832–848. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2008.03.002
- Weeden, J., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2008). Religious attendance as reproductive support. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 327–334. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.03.004
- Weeden, J., & Kurzban, R. (2013). What predicts religiosity? A multinational analysis of reproductive and cooperative morals. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 34(6), 440– 445. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2013.08.006
- Williams, K. E. G., Sng, O., & Neuberg, S. L. (2016). Ecology-driven stereotypes override race stereotypes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(2), 310–315. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519401113
- Wilson, D. S., O'Brien, D. T., & Sesma, A. (2009). Human prosociality from an evolutionary perspective: Variation and correlations at a city-wide scale. *Evolution* and Human Behavior, 30(3), 190–200. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.12.002

CHAPTER 4

MEN ARE LESS RELIGIOUS IN MORE GENDER-EQUAL COUNTRIES ABSTRACT

Sex differences in religiosity are cross-culturally common and robust, yet it is unclear why sex differences in some cultures are larger than in others. Although women are more religious than men in most countries, religions frequently provide asymmetrical benefits to men at the expense of women. Two global analyses (51 countries and 74 countries) found that country-level gender equality was consistently and negatively associated with religiousness (i.e., religious attendance, reported importance of God, and frequency of prayer) for men, more than for women, leading to a larger sex difference in religiousness in more gender-equal countries. Results were especially robust for religious attendance, and hold accounting for country-level wealth, as well as individuals' religious affiliation, moralization of sexuality, age, and education levels. We interpret results through a rational choice lens, which assumes that people are more drawn to religion when it is consistent with their reproductive goals.

INTRODUCTION

Sex differences in religiosity represent one of the most consistent findings in the psychology of religion, and are often described as nearly universal (Beit-Hallahmi, 2014; Stark, 2002). Some researchers have suggested that women (vs. men) are more prone to religious beliefs because they have a greater propensity for mentalizing (the ability to reason about and represent other's minds) (Norenzayan et al., 2012), decreased risk tolerance (Roth & Kroll, 2007), and greater empathic concern (Jack et al., 2016)—all of which are associated with greater religious belief. Yet women are not always more religious—in some cultures these differences are minimal or even reversed (Irons, 2001; Schnabel et al., 2018; Yaffe et al., 2018). As of yet, it is unclear why there is cultural variation in sex differences in religiosity.

We draw on the rational choice model of religious engagement, which suggests that people adopt religious beliefs and practices depending on whether their goals are congruent with religious lifestyles (McCullough et al., 2005; Sherkat & Wilson, 1995). We also take a functional approach, based on the premises that religious beliefs and practices are sensitive to context or "facts on the ground" (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995; Wright, 2009). That is, rather than providing only symbolic benefits or comfort, many religious beliefs and rituals may be tools that developed through cultural evolution because they promote reproductive success.

In particular, religions seem closely linked to control of reproductive behaviour. Most religions impose rules about sexuality and sex roles—who can have sex and with whom, who cares for children, and how families are structured (Reynolds & Tanner, 1995). One of the most consistent correlates of religiousness worldwide is an opposition

56

to sexual promiscuity—i.e., *restricted sociosexuality* (Schmitt & Fuller, 2015; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013). A rational choice approach might predict that people who prefer highinvestment, long-term, monogamous mating strategies will be drawn to religion precisely because it seeks to make sexual promiscuity more costly though anti-promiscuity norms and punishment (McCullough et al., 2005; Moon et al., 2019; Weeden et al., 2008). None of this is to suggest that religion is necessary to control others' sexual behaviour, but that supernatural enforcement is one of several cultural tools of social control—one that is particularly powerful (Fitouchi & Singh, 2022).

There is indeed evidence that religious norms and practices can affect several life history trade-offs (Moon, 2021). All organisms must choose how to allocate energy into growth, somatic maintenance, and reproduction—taken holistically, there is a fitness trade-off between future and current reproduction (Hill, 2019). This can be conceptualised as spanning three fundamental trade-offs: current vs. future reproduction, quality vs. quantity of offspring, and mating vs. parenting effort (Del Giudice et al., 2015). To the extent that religions increase paternal certainty (Boster et al., 1998; Strassmann et al., 2012), they can increase the incentives for men to invest in parenting (Gaulin & Schlegel, 1980; Scelza et al., 2020). There is also a trade-off between offspring quality and quantity, such that greater numbers of offspring are generally associated with less investment in each child (Lawson & Mace, 2009). This trade-off seems to be less steep among religious individuals, however, likely as a result of increased biparental care and alloparenting, in which parents, extended relatives, and non-relatives provide care and resources for offspring (Shaver et al., 2019, 2020). Thus, religion can be especially appealing to individuals following these high-investment mating strategies, whereas people who seek sexual promiscuity may benefit more from eschewing religion.

What are the benefits of religion for women? Women invest more in offspring than men (e.g., nine months of pregnancy as well as time spent in child care), and are more discriminating in selecting mates (Buss & Schmitt, 1993; Hrdy, 1999). Mate choice is the best way for women to advance their reproductive fitness; the regulation of monogamy that religion often affords protects that choice by incentivizing their partner to invest in their relationship and offspring. Indeed, because some males are more sought after as mates than others; these high quality males have higher reproductive rates than females, and benefit from minimizing their investment across many offspring (Kokko & Jennions, 2003). One straightforward benefit of religion for women, then, is it can prevent desertion of high value mates. That is, religious norms make it more costly for men to abandon their current mates or offspring by imposing sanctions or social pressure. This is especially true for religions that promote normative monogamy, which causes a more equitable distribution of mates (Henrich et al., 2012). In sum, women tend to be more interested in long-term exclusive relationships than men (Buss & Schmitt, 1993), and religion might appeal to them for this reason. This seems to partially explain sex differences in religiosity: some analyses have found that sex differences in religiosity disappear or are reduced when accounting for sociosexual attitudes (Weeden et al., 2008).

However, religious norms often go beyond simply prohibiting promiscuity, and many religious practices seem to benefit men at the expense of women. This asymmetry can take several forms. Women may be blamed for their own rape (Freymeyer, 1997) and held responsible for the sexual misconduct of men (e.g., through rules about modesty).

58

Specific religious rituals or taboos may also benefit men at the expense of women several scholars have outlined how veiling seems more consistent with male (vs. female) interests, for instance as a tool for mate guarding (Aksoy, 2017; Blake et al., 2018; Pazhoohi & Hosseinchari, 2014; Pazhoohi & Kingstone, 2020). Further, some rituals seem designed specifically to suppress female sexuality. Among the Dogon of Mali, the indigenous religion promotes menstrual taboos, which includes women being exiled in uncomfortable menstrual huts. Use of these huts (e.g., after a woman's most recent childbirth) sends an honest signal that a woman is fertile, leading husbands and their families to engage in precautions to avoid cuckoldry (e.g., postmenstrual copulation). Genetic data reveal that men who practice the traditional religion, as opposed to other religions (e.g., Christianity), have significantly lower risk of cuckoldry (Strassmann et al., 2012)³.

For men in particular, these religious benefits might depend on context. The extent to which women and men share equal rights, responsibilities, and opportunities in society (i.e., gender equality) may alter the incentives for men and women to engage with religious beliefs and practices. In cultures with less gender equality, the subjugation of women to advance men's interests might be more acceptable—and women may also be less empowered to prevent their oppression. Thus, in these countries, religion might be

³ As pointed out by a reviewer, any benefit of paternal certainty could be offset if religious women mate with nonreligious men at a higher rate than nonreligious women mate with religious men, which would give the nonreligious men a higher fertility rate, even with lower paternal certainty. We suggest that this is unlikely, as people are extremely likely to prefer mates of similar religious backgrounds (i.e., religious homogamy), and likely do so in part because of inferences about their propensity for fidelity or interest in a high-investment mating strategy (Bulbulia et al., 2015; Buss & Barnes, 1986; Irons, 2001; Moon et al., 2018; Slone, 2008).

more useful to men as a tool of social influence. In contrast, in more gender-equal cultures that discourage restrictive religious practices for women, religion may afford fewer reproductive benefits to men because they cannot impose social control over women, and thus religion is less appealing.

Consistent with this notion, we hypothesized that gender equality would interact with sex, such that sex differences in religiousness (i.e., women being more religious than men) would be larger in more gender-equal countries. We were agnostic about what would drive this effect, only that the relationship between gender-equity and religiousness would be more negative for men than it is for women. We note, however, that many wealthy countries tend to have greater gender equality and are often more secular (Norris & Inglehart, 2004), so it would be surprising to find a positive slope for either men or women.

Our hypothesis was derived by considering several recent findings documenting a "gender equality paradox"—in more egalitarian societies, sex differences are often larger. This pattern has been found with sex differences in personality (Costa et al., 2001; Schmitt et al., 2017), moral judgments (Atari et al., 2020), career choice (Breda et al., 2020; Stoet & Geary, 2018), and a variety of aesthetic preferences (Falk & Hermle, 2018). This pattern is perceived as paradoxical, as many people would intuit that gender equality would reduce inequalities or allow boys and girls to be socialized in ways that result in greater similarity. A common explanation is that egalitarian societies allow individuals to make their own decisions with fewer institutional barriers and less regard for what others might think. Rather than leading to the same outcomes for men and

women, it allows them to express their diverging preferences, thereby resulting in greater sex differences (Falk & Hermle, 2018; Schmitt et al., 2008; Stoet & Geary, 2020).

Sex differences in religiousness may follow a similar pattern. In societies with less gender equality, men may be better able to derive reproductive benefits from religion, resulting in higher religiousness among men. For women, however, the benefits of religious behaviour may be less dependent on the cultural context; for instance, religious groups tend to provide more frequent alloparenting, and this might be the case regardless of a society's gender equality; in fact, the benefits of alloparenting could be even larger in more egalitarian societies, where people are less embedded in kin networks that might otherwise engage in alloparenting (Shaver et al., 2020). That is to say, because women can acquire substantial reproductive benefits from religious involvement, there may be greater incentive for women (compared to men) to be religious, particularly in societies that have achieved greater gender equality.



Figure 7. Global Gender Gap Index scores by country (World Economic Forum, 2018). Higher scores (darker colours) indicate greater gender equality. Countries with no data are in grey. Figure created using the rworldmap package (South, 2011).

Method

We compiled cross-cultural survey data from the World Values Survey, wave 6 (WVS6; (Inglehart et al., 2014)) and the combined European Values Survey and World Values Survey, wave 7 (EVS/WVS; (EVS/WVS, 2021)), which we combined with archival data on gender equality (the Global Gender Gap Index, or GGGI). We used multilevel modelling to predict religiousness as a function of gender equality, participant sex, and their interaction. We analysed the WVS6 and then replicated our results using the EVS/WVS7 to rule out the possibility that the effects were artefacts of the specific subset of countries in the WVS6.

Participants. Our sample size varied across models, depending on which questions were asked in different countries (sample sizes and the number of countries are specified for each model in Tables 1 and 2). In the WVS6 (Inglehart et al., 2014), the

largest sample size was 79,379 participants (largest number of countries was 51). In the EVS/WVS (EVS/WVS, 2021), the largest sample size was 125,593 across 74 countries. All data used in this paper are publicly available, and code to set up and analyse the dataset can be found on the project's OSF page:

https://osf.io/kstgq/?view_only=b0493dd278984aed95f3e7196b9446e1.

Individual-Level Measures. We assessed religious attendance with a single item ranging from 1 (*more than once a week*) to 7 (*never, practically never*) in the WVS6 (V145) and the EVS/WVS file (F028) (EVS/WVS, 2021). We reverse-coded this variable in both studies, such that higher scores represent more frequent attendance. We assessed importance of God using a 1 (*not at all important*) to 10 (*very important*) measure that was included in both samples (V152 in WVS6; F063 in EVS/WVS). Frequency of prayer was assessed on a 1 (*several times a day*) to 8 (*never, practically never*) scale in the WVS6 (V146 in WVS6); in the EVS/WVS, respondents of the WVS were asked this question on the same scale (F063_WVS7), but respondents of the EVS were asked on a separate 1 (*every day*) to 7 (*never*) scale. To convert them to the same scale, we rescaled the WVS response options so that they ranged from 1 to 7 to match the EVS response range (see our analysis file for details).

To control for religious affiliation, we created a factor variable with five levels (Christian, Muslim, Eastern, Other, and nonreligious) using the variables for religious affiliation (V144 in WVS6; F025 in EVS/WVS). Finally, our more complex models sought to control for participant sociosexuality. As a proxy, and because the same items were not available in both waves, we used attitudes about sex before marriage (V206) in WVS6 and attitudes toward casual sex (F132) in EVS/WVS. We also controlled for age

(V242 in WVS6; X003 in EVS/WVS) and education level (V248 in WVS6; X025A_01 in EVS/WVS) in these models.

Country-Level Measure. We operationalized gender equality using the Global Gender Gap Index (GGGI), which is produced in an annual report by the World Economic Forum (World Economic Forum, 2018)

(https://tcdata360.worldbank.org/indicators/af52ebe9). This measure accounts for four domains of gender equality: economic participation, education, political empowerment, and health/survival (World Economic Forum, 2018), and is the only independent estimate of gender equality that is reported annually (Stoet & Geary, 2020). We also report analyses using each sub-index of the GGGI in the Supplemental Material. For WVS6 we used the 2014 GGGI estimates, which was the final year of data collection. For EVS/WVS, we used the 2018 estimates, which were the most recent available in our dataset. In addition to gender equality, Models 3A, 3B, and 3C in both studies controlled for country-level GDP per capita (purchasing power parity) using data obtained from the World Bank (The World Bank, n.d.).

Analytic Approach. To account for the nested nature of the data (i.e., respondents nested within countries), we used multilevel modelling. All analyses were conducted using the lme4 and lmerTest packages (Bates et al., 2015; Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in R, using Satterthwaite estimation of degrees of freedom. Analysis scripts and results are available at

https://osf.io/kstgq/?view_only=b0493dd278984aed95f3e7196b9446e1.

We conducted the same analyses for both samples. For our baseline models (i.e., Models 1A, 1B, and 1C), participants (level 1) were nested within countries (level 2). We included country-level gender equality (centred), participant sex, and their interaction. At the country level, we estimated both random intercepts and random slopes of participant sex. Further, because countries are not independent, but share cultural and geographic features, we nested countries within the sub-regions specified by the United Nations (United Nations, 2019)—in this third level, we estimated only random intercepts. In all analyses, continuous predictors were grand-mean centred, and dichotomous variables were coded as 0 and 1. The statistical equation that represents these base models is reported in the Supplemental Material.

Our follow-up models added covariates to the baseline models. For Models 2A, 2B, and 2C, we accounted for participants' religious affiliation using the five-level religious affiliation variable. Next, our third models included several control variables: sociosexuality (i.e., attitudes toward sex before marriage or casual sex), education, and age, and country-level GDP per capita.

Model diagnostics for Models 1A, 1B, and 1C are reported in the Supplemental Materials. The outcome variables are ordinal but as they have several categories we treat them in our models as continuous (for a discussion of ordinal variables treated as continuous see Norman, 2010). We provide histograms of the distributions of residuals at the individual level, as well as for the random intercepts and slopes. In most cases the distributions reasonably approximated a normal distribution. Our full analysis files also contain formal tests for normality, though we note multilevel models are often robust to violations of these assumptions (Schielzeth et al., 2020).

Results
As shown in Tables 1 and 2, in both samples there was a significant interaction between gender equality and participant sex predicting religious attendance (Model 1A), importance of God (Model 1B), and frequency of prayer (Model 1C), such that the negative association between gender equality and religious belief, attendance, and prayer was stronger for men than women (see Fig. 8). Although the negative slope was consistent for men across religious outcomes, there was also a negative slope for women, but the effect was weaker and less consistent, reaching significance only for the importance of God and frequency of prayer.

Next, we added a variable to represent participants' religious affiliation, which we split into five groups: nonreligious, Christian, Muslim, Eastern religions, and Other (Models 2A, 2B, and 2C). This represents a relatively conservative analysis (i.e., whether or not someone is religiously affiliated vs. not affiliated explains much of the variance in religious attendance and belief, leaving less variance to be explained). Adding religious affiliation did not substantially alter results.

Finally, in addition to affiliation, we added control variables that have been theoretically or empirically linked to religiosity (Models 3A, 3B, and 3C). Given the strong link between sociosexuality and religion, we controlled for opposition to sex before marriage (in the WVS6 sample) and attitudes toward casual sex (in the EVS/WVS sample) as a proxy for sociosexuality (Schmitt & Fuller, 2015; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013). We also controlled for age (Bengtson et al., 2015; McCullough et al., 2005) and education (Hungerman, 2014). Finally, to account for differences in wealth between countries, we included country-level GDP per capita as a covariate. After adding all controls, results were less consistent. In the WVS6, the predicted interactions were weaker. In the EVS/WVS, the interactions were more consistent for these two outcomes, even though the slopes were weak for both men and women. In all models predicting religious attendance, there was a significant interaction, such that gender equality was negatively associated with religious attendance for men, but not associated with religious attendance for women.

Overall, the results support our hypothesis that female > male sex differences in religiosity are larger in countries with greater gender equality, and that these results are driven largely by reduced religiosity of men in countries with greater gender equality. In nearly all of our models (except Models 3B and 3C in the EVS/WVS), this effect was statistically significant. For women, gender equality is negatively, but inconsistently, associated with importance of God and frequency of prayer. In no model was gender equality related to religious attendance for women.

Sub-Indices of Gender Equality. We ran Models 1A, 1B, and 1C with each subindex of the GGGI: political power, economic participation, education, and health/survival. These analyses suggested that the gender equality paradox pattern was most strongly linked to gender equality in education and economic participation. There was no consistent effect for political power or health/survival. Results from these models are reported in the Supplemental Material. Although these analyses were exploratory, we view them as largely consistent with our framework, as it seems that facets of gender equality associated with women's independence from men drive the effect.



Figure 8. Predicted values of religious attendance (left), importance of God (middle), and frequency of prayer (right) from Models 1A, 1B, and 1C. Y-axes are scaled to span all response options for each question, and higher scores indicate greater religiousness. Gender equality (x-axes) was standardized such that the mean is 0, and the standard deviation is 1. Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals.

e 4. Fixed effects fr	om multile	evel mode (A) Reli	els in WVS6 gious Attendar	lce		(B) Impo	rtance of God		(C) Freq	uency of]	Prayer	
dictor	p	SE	df	d	q	SE	df	d	p	SE	df	d
11	N = 79,3	79 (50 co	untries)		N = 78,5	37 (51 c	ountries)		N = 78,4	62 (50 co	untries)	
GGI (M)	-0.64	0.15	51.75	<.001	-0.91	0.25	44.61	.001	-0.80	0.20	49.31	<,001
3GI (F)	0.05	0.15	50.62	.729	-0.72	0.22	45.46	.002	-0.34	0.22	53.85	.131
x	0.02	0.11	47.84	.846	0.48	0.06	49.30	<.001	0.53	0.13	47.61	<.001
$GGI \times Sex$	0.69	0.11	47.96	<.001	0.19	0.06	50.08	.002	0.47	0.12	47.74	<,001
12	N = 76,7	67 (49 co	untries)		N = 76,3	71 (50 ci	ountries)		N = 77,3	52 (50 co	untries)	
GGI (M)	-0.59	0.13	51.32	<.001	-0.69	0.21	44.68	.002	-0.68	0.17	49.14	<.001
GGI (F)	0.03	0.13	51.24	.789	-0.57	0.18	46.25	.003	-0.27	0.19	55.93	.170
X	-0.08	0.11	46.79	.491	0.37	0.06	48.55	<.001	0.42	0.12	47.65	.001
$GGI \times Sex$	0.63	0.11	46.90	<.001	0.13	0.05	49.30	.024	0.42	0.12	47.76	.001
hristian	2.16	0.02	76709.83	<.001	2.62	0.02	76324.07	<.001	2.39	0.02	77303.23	<.001
uslim	1.92	0.03	75741.56	<.001	2.82	0.04	75782.40	<.001	2.51	0.04	76956.81	<.001
istern	1.29	0.03	76343.25	<,001	2.14	0.04	76140.16	<.001	1.77	0.04	77196.26	<,001
ther	2.35	0.04	76701.46	<.001	2.85	0.05	76309.71	<.001	2.49	0.04	77273.83	<.001
13	N = 68,4	04 (45 co	untries)		N = 68,5	15 (46 ci	ountries)		N = 68,9	87 (46 co	untries)	
GGI (M)	-0.37	0.15	44.54	.016	-0.68	0.24	37.80	.008	-0.57	0.20	43.69	900.
GGI (F)	-0.03	0.14	42.02	.816	-0.56	0.21	40.30	600.	-0.51	0.19	43.15	600'
x	0.03	0.09	42.98	169.	0.35	0.06	44.28	<.001	0.51	0.06	43.84	<.001
GGI × Sex	0.34	0.10	43.01	.001	0.11	0.07	44.47	960.	0.07	0.06	43.93	.301
uristian	2.08	0.02	68356.08	<.001	2.48	0.03	68477.04	<.001	2.27	0.02	68960.95	<.001
uslim	1.84	0.03	67554.71	<.001	2.64	0.04	67956.15	<.001	2.40	0.04	68614.34	<.001
istern	1.22	0.03	67956.63	<.001	1.95	0.04	68262.42	<.001	1.67	0.04	68820.93	<,001
ther	2.27	0.04	68341.55	<.001	2.67	0.05	68450.73	<.001	2.38	0.04	68927.58	<.001
emarital Sex	-0.08	0.00	68347.76	<.001	-0.09	0.00	68460.98	<.001	-0.08	0.00	68944.45	<.001
ge	0.01	0.00	68343.47	<.001	0.01	0.00	68466.66	<.001	0.01	0.00	68936.74	<,001
lucation	0.01	0.00	68360.97	<.001	-0.02	0.00	68448.53	<.001	0.02	0.00	68955.31	<.001
DP	-0.18	0.15	40.48	.221	-0.10	0.21	41.11	.646	-0.22	0.21	42.04	.296
The focal inte	raction is	s bolded	. Full mode	l details ar	e available	in the a	nalysis file.	= I999	Global G	ender G	ap Index. E	ach
on represents a	dummy	code, w	vith nonrelig	tious as the	e reference	group.	Countries w	ere nested	within 1	4 sub-re	gions. Coel	fficients
GGI (M) repre	sent the	slopes fo	or males, an	d GGGI (F	() represent	the slo	pes for fem	ales. Sex i	s coded 0) = Male	, 1 = Femal	e.

er	p		.005	.078	<.001	<.001		.005	.093	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		.085	.433	<.001	.006	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.022	.014	Gap Index. Each	regions. Coefficients	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL
iency of Praye	df	4 countries)	74.77	71.76	71.44	71.84	t countries)	74.23	72.73	71.57	71.97	123021.72	120088.48	120851.57	123053.47	countries)	66.85	66.64	67.34	67.43	113363.29	110857.79	111323.06	113420.52	113455.94	113440.18	113459.37	59.59	oal Gender	hin 14 sub-	
C) Frequ	SE	,216(7	0.17	0.17	0.05	0.05	,122 (74	0.13	0.12	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.05	,483 (70	0.14	0.14	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.17	= Glot	ted wit	
)	q	N = 124	-0.50	-0.29	0.66	0.20	N = 123	-0.37	-0.21	0.55	0.15	2.30	2.94	1.56	2.70	N = 113	-0.24	-0.11	0.52	0.13	2.11	2.78	1.42	2.49	-0.11	0.01	-0.01	-0.42	e. GGGI	Were nest	
F	р		900.	.040	<.001	<.001		.012	.072	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		.318	.920	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	alysis fil	ountries	
ortance of Goo	df	s countries)	73.18	71.31	70.17	70.71	s countries)	72.95	70.81	70.38	70.92	122486.35	120963.56	121803.43	122448.10) countries)	67.41	67.05	67.42	67.69	113981.34	111461.65	112792.25	114019.92	114056.14	114011.07	114039.26	55.47	ole in the an	C anoin C	C TIMPING ST
(B) Impo	SE	683 (73	0.23	0.21	0.05	0.05	2,515 (73	0.17	0.17	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.06	t,079 (7(0.16	0.16	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.19	availat	afaran	
	p	N = 123	-0.64	-0.44	0.49	0.20	N = 122	-0.45	-0.31	0.36	0.14	2.89	3.47	2.31	3.33	N = 114	-0.16	-0.02	0.29	0.14	2.68	3.26	2.18	3.09	-0.15	0.01	-0.04	-0.92	etails are	i ad tha i	
ance	р		.001	.919	.425	<.001		<.001	899	.052	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		.002	.357	.357	.002	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.189	model de	meliaion	
ligious Attend	df	4 countries)	76.57	73.65	71.71	71.81	4 countries)	77.58	74.50	71.73	71.81	124129.04	119206.30	121364.95	124327.95	0 countries)	67.11	60.71	67.57	67.59	114329.73	110218.17	111804.57	114556.40	114577.33	114567.52	114585.03	63.61	olded. Full	with no	A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC
(A) Re	SE	5,593 (7	0.13	0.12	0.09	0.08	4,416 (7	0.10	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	4,642 (7	0.10	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.12	on is b	D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	
	q	N = 125	-0.43	0.01	-0.07	0.44	N = 124	-0.42	-0.01	-0.16	0.41	1.88	1.69	1.10	2.12	N = 114	-0.31	-0.07	-0.07	0.24	1.78	1.60	1.03	1.99	-0.08	0.00	0.01	-0.16	interacti	nte a dun	
	Predictor	Model 1	GGGI (M)	GGGI (F)	Sex	$GGGI \times Sex$	Model 2	GGGI (M)	GGGI (F)	Sex	GGGI × Sex	Christian	Muslim	Eastern	Other	Model 3	GGGI (M)	GGGI (F)	Sex	GGGI × Sex	Christian	Muslim	Eastern	Other	Causal Sex	Age	Education	GDP	Note: The focal	religion renrese	

Table 5. Fixed effects from multilevel models in EVS/WVS

DISCUSSION

These data show that gender equality across cultures consistently and negatively predicts religious belief and behaviour among men, but the effect is small and inconsistent for women. This interaction between gender equality and participant sex holds in most of the models we ran, even when accounting for the clustering of countries within sub-regions, the religious denominations of participants, sociosexuality, age, education, and country-level wealth.

The results were particularly strong with religious attendance as an outcome; in all such models there was a consistent negative relationship between gender equality and religious attendance for men, but no effect for women. We suggest that religious attendance (vs. private religious behaviour or belief) is the outcome most relevant to our hypothesis. That is, it is attendance and overt participation that we would expect to be associated with the reproductive outcomes of interest. Overt religious participation may allow men to more easily monitor women, police sexual behaviour, or to signal their value as a mate via religious commitment.

In addition, the focal results were driven by gender equality in education and economic participation, but not political power or health/survival. These results could be consistent with the view of religion as a "costly signal" to indicate qualities such as trustworthiness, dedication to one's family, or even simply dedication to one's group (Bulbulia et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2015; Irons, 2001; McCullough et al., 2016; Moon et al., 2018; Slone, 2008; Sosis & Alcorta, 2003); gender equality might also influence the payoffs of using religion as a costly signal. For instance, there is some evidence that women's economic dependence on men—which makes paternal certainty more critical facilitates moralisation of promiscuity (Price et al., 2014). It follows, then, that women who are dependent on men (i.e., when gender equality is low) may prioritize signals of paternal investment and long-term commitment; this could in turn incentivise men in these societies to use religion as a signal of their willingness to invest in their offspring (Irons, 2001; Moon et al., 2018).

One could also predict the same pattern by considering other functions of religion. For example, religion fosters cooperation and ingroup cohesion (Norenzayan et al., 2016; Purzycki et al., 2016) and can help people manage their existential insecurities (Norris & Inglehart, 2004). Indeed, religions are especially attractive to people after facing mortal threats, such as intergroup conflict (Henrich et al., 2019). One alternative explanation, then, could be that countries that have achieved greater gender equality face fewer threats that require male coalitional coordination (e.g., warfare), therefore people (particularly men) in these countries are less likely to view religion as necessary. We reiterate, however, that our analyses are unable to reveal the mechanism behind the observed effects, or to adjudicate between alternative explanations.

Our hypothesis stems from a rational choice perspective on religion (McCullough et al., 2005), suggesting that engagement in religious behaviours and beliefs might stem partly from the reproductive benefits people acquire from them (McCullough et al., 2005; Moon, 2021; Weeden et al., 2008). Because religions often involve costly behaviour (Sosis & Bressler, 2003; Xygalatas et al., 2013), one should expect religious engagement to be more likely when the benefits outweigh the costs. If indeed one of the functions of religion is reproductive support that often favours men over women, and if the manipulation of women in such ways (e.g., through modesty norms or proscribing sexual promiscuity) is less accepted in more gender equal societies, the costs may outweigh the benefits for men in these societies, resulting in lower religiousness among men.

REFERENCES

- Aksoy, O. (2017). Motherhood, sex of the offspring, and religious signaling. *Sociological Science*, *4*, 511–527. https://doi.org/10.15195/v4.a21
- Atari, M., Lai, M. H. C., & Dehghani, M. (2020). Sex differences in moral judgements across 67 countries. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287(1937), 20201201. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1201
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beit-Hallahmi, B. (2014). *Psychological perspectives on religion and religiosity*. Routledge.
- Bengtson, V. L., Silverstein, M., Putney, N. M., & Harris, S. C. (2015). Does religiousness increase with age? Age changes and generational differences over 35 years. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 54(2), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12183
- Blake, K. R., Fourati, M., & Brooks, R. C. (2018). Who suppresses female sexuality? An examination of support for Islamic veiling in a secular Muslim democracy as a function of sex and offspring sex. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 632–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.006
- Boster, J. S., Hudson, R. R., & Gaulin, S. J. C. (1998). High paternity certainties of Jewish priests. *American Anthropologist*, 100(4), 967–971. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.1998.100.4.967
- Breda, T., Jouini, E., Napp, C., & Thebault, G. (2020). Gender stereotypes can explain the gender-equality paradox. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(49), 31063–31069. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2008704117
- Bulbulia, J. A., Shaver, J. H., Greaves, L., Sosis, R., & Sibley, C. G. (2015). Religion and parental cooperation: An empirical test of Slone's sexual signaling model. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution of religion: Studies, theories and critiques* (pp. 29–62). Collins Foundation Press.
- Buss, D. M., & Barnes, M. (1986). Preferences in human mate selection. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(3), 559–570. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.3.559
- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (1993). Sexual strategies theory: An evolutionary perspective on human mating. *Psychological Review*, 100(2), 204–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.100.2.204

- Costa, P. T., Terracciano, A., & McCrae, R. R. (2001). Gender differences in personality traits across cultures: Robust and surprising findings. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(2), 322–331. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.81.2.322
- Del Giudice, M., Gangestad, S. W., & Kaplan, H. S. (2015). Life history theory and evolutionary psychology. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), *The handbook of evolutionary psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 88–114). Wiley and Sons.
- EVS/WVS. (2021). Joint EVS/WVS 2017-2021 dataset. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA 7505 data file version 1.1.0. https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13670
- Falk, A., & Hermle, J. (2018). Relationship of gender differences in preferences to economic development and gender equality. *Science*, 362(6412). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aas9899
- Fitouchi, L., & Singh, M. (2022). Supernatural punishment beliefs as cognitively compelling tools of social control. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 44, 252–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.09.022
- Freymeyer, R. H. (1997). Rape myths and religiosity. *Sociological Spectrum*, *17*(4), 473–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.1997.9982179
- Gaulin, S. J. C., & Schlegel, A. (1980). Paternal confidence and paternal investment: A cross cultural test of a sociobiological hypothesis. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *1*(4), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(80)90015-1
- Hall, D. L., Cohen, A. B., Meyer, K. K., Varley, A. H., & Brewer, G. A. (2015). Costly signaling increases trust, even across religious affiliations. *Psychological Science*, 26(9), 1368–1376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615576473
- Henrich, J., Bauer, M., Cassar, A., Chytilová, J., & Purzycki, B. G. (2019). War increases religiosity. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 3(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0512-3
- Henrich, J., Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (2012). The puzzle of monogamous marriage. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, *367*(1589), 657–669. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0290
- Hill, K. R. (2019). Anthropological and evolutionary demography. In O. Burger, R. Lee, & R. Sear (Eds.), *Human Evolutionary Demography*. https://osf.io/29wv5/
- Hrdy, S. B. (1999). *Mother nature: A history of mothers, infants, and natural selection*. Pantheon.
- Hungerman, D. M. (2014). The effect of education on religion: Evidence from compulsory schooling laws. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 104, 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2013.09.004

- Inglehart, R., Haerpfer, C., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., Diez-Medrano, J., Lagos, M., Norris, P., Ponarin, E., & Puranen, B. (Eds.). (2014). World Values Survey: Round six datafile, 2010-2014.
- Irons, W. (2001). Religion as a hard-to-fake sign of commitment. In R. M. Nesse (Ed.), *Evolution and the capacity for commitment* (pp. 292–309). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Jack, A. I., Friedman, J. P., Boyatzis, R. E., & Taylor, S. N. (2016). Why do you believe in god? Relationships between religious belief, analytic thinking, mentalizing and moral concern. *PLoS ONE*, 11(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149989
- Kokko, H., & Jennions, M. (2003). It takes two to tango. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 18(3), 103–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00009-0
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13), 1–26.
- Lawson, D. W., & Mace, R. (2009). Trade-offs in modern parenting: A longitudinal study of sibling competition for parental care. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *30*(3), 170–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.12.001
- McCullough, M. E., Enders, C. K., Brion, S. L., & Jain, A. R. (2005). The varieties of religious development in adulthood: A longitudinal investigation of religion and rational choice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(1), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.1.78
- McCullough, M. E., Swartwout, P., Carter, E. C., Shaver, J. H., & Sosis, R. (2016). Christian religious badges instill trust in Christian and non-Christian perceivers. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 8(2), 149–163. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000045
- Moon, J. W. (2021). Why are world religions so concerned with sexual behavior? *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 40, 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.07.030
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2018). Religious people are trusted because they are viewed as slow life-history strategists. *Psychological Science*, 29(6), 947– 960. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617753606
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2019). Is nothing sacred? Religion, sex, and reproductive strategies. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(4), 361–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419838242
- Norenzayan, A., Gervais, W. M., & Trzesniewski, K. H. (2012). Mentalizing deficits constrain belief in a personal god. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e36880. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036880

- Norenzayan, A., Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Slingerland, E., Gervais, W. M., McNamara, R. A., & Henrich, J. (2016). The cultural evolution of prosocial religions. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 39, e1. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X14001356
- Norman, G. (2010). Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 15(5), 625–632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y
- Norris, P., & Inglehart, R. (2004). *Sacred and secular: Religion and politics worldwide*. Cambridge University Press.
- Pazhoohi, F., & Hosseinchari, M. (2014). Effects of religious veiling on Muslim men's attractiveness ratings of Muslim women. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 43(6), 1083– 1086. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0259-5
- Pazhoohi, F., & Kingstone, A. (2020). Sex difference on the importance of veiling: A cross-cultural investigation. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 54(5), 486–501. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397120931031
- Price, M. E., Pound, N., & Scott, I. M. (2014). Female economic dependence and the morality of promiscuity. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 43(7), 1289–1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0320-4
- Purzycki, B. G., Apicella, C. L., Atkinson, Q. D., Cohen, E., McNamara, R. A., Willard, A. K., Xygalatas, D., Norenzayan, A., & Henrich, J. (2016). Moralistic gods, supernatural punishment and the expansion of human sociality. *Nature*, 530, 327– 330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16980
- Reynolds, V., & Tanner, R. (1995). *The social ecology of religion*. Oxford University Press.
- Roth, L. M., & Kroll, J. C. (2007). Risky business: Assessing risk preference explanations for gender differences in religiosity. *American Sociological Review*, 72(2), 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240707200204
- Scelza, B. A., Prall, S. P., Blumenfield, T., Crittenden, A. N., Gurven, M., Kline, M., Koster, J., Kushnick, G., Mattison, S. M., Pillsworth, E., Shenk, M. K., Starkweather, K., Stieglitz, J., Sum, C. Y., Yamaguchi, K., & McElreath, R. (2020). Patterns of paternal investment predict cross-cultural variation in jealous response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *4*, 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0654-y
- Schielzeth, H., Dingemanse, N. J., Nakagawa, S., Westneat, D. F., Allegue, H., Teplitsky, C., Réale, D., Dochtermann, N. A., Garamszegi, L. Z., & Araya-Ajoy, Y. G. (2020). Robustness of linear mixed-effects models to violations of distributional assumptions. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *11*(9), 1141–1152. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13434

- Schmitt, D. P., & Fuller, R. C. (2015). On the varieties of sexual experience: Crosscultural links between religiosity and human mating strategies. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 7(4), 314–326. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000036
- Schmitt, D. P., Long, A. E., McPhearson, A., O'Brien, K., Remmert, B., & Shah, S. H. (2017). Personality and gender differences in global perspective. *International Journal of Psychology*, 52, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12265
- Schmitt, D. P., Realo, A., Voracek, M., & Allik, J. (2008). Why can't a man be more like a woman? Sex differences in Big Five personality traits across 55 cultures. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 94(1), 168–182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.94.1.168
- Schnabel, L., Hackett, C., & McClendon, D. (2018). Where men appear more religious than women: Turning a gender lens on religion in Israel. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 57(1), 80–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12498
- Shaver, J. H., Power, E. A., Purzycki, B. G., Watts, J., Sear, R., Shenk, M. K., Sosis, R., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2020). Church attendance and alloparenting: An analysis of fertility, social support and child development among English mothers: Church attendance and alloparenting. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1805). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0428
- Shaver, J. H., Sibley, C. G., Sosis, R., Galbraith, D., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2019). Alloparenting and religious fertility: A test of the religious alloparenting hypothesis. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 40(3), 345–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2019.01.004
- Sherkat, D. E., & Wilson, J. (1995). Preferences, constraints, and choices in religious markets: An examination of religious switching and apostasy. *Social Forces*, 73(3), 993–1026. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/73.3.993
- Slone, D. J. (2008). The attraction of religion: A sexual selectionist account. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution* of religion: Studies, theories and critiques (pp. 181–187). Collins Foundation Press.
- Sosis, R., & Alcorta, C. (2003). Signaling, solidarity, and the sacred: The evolution of religious behavior. *Evolutionary Anthropology*, 12(6), 264–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/evan.10120
- Sosis, R., & Bressler, E. R. (2003). Cooperation and commune longevity: A test of the costly signaling theory of religion. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 37(2), 211–239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397103251426
- South, A. (2011). rworldmap: A new R package for mapping global data. *The R Journal*, *3*(1), 35–43.

- Stark, R. (2002). Physiology and faith: Addressing the "universal" gender difference in religious commitment. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 41(3), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5906.00133
- Stoet, G., & Geary, D. C. (2018). The Gender-Equality Paradox in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics Education. *Psychological Science*, 29(4), 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617741719
- Stoet, G., & Geary, D. C. (2020). The gender-equality paradox is part of a bigger phenomenon: Reply to Richardson and Colleagues (2020). *Psychological Science*, *31*(3), 342–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620904134
- Strassmann, B. I., Kurapati, N. T., Hug, B. F., Burke, E. E., Gillespie, B. W., Karafet, T. M., & Hammer, M. F. (2012). Religion as a means to assure paternity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(25), 9781–9785. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110442109
- The World Bank. (n.d.). World development indicators. https://data.worldbank.org
- United Nations. (2019). World Population Prospects. https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/
- Weeden, J., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2008). Religious attendance as reproductive support. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 327–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.03.004
- Weeden, J., & Kurzban, R. (2013). What predicts religiosity? A multinational analysis of reproductive and cooperative morals. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 34(6), 440– 445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2013.08.006
- World Economic Forum. (2018). *The global gender gap report*. https://tcdata360.worldbank.org/indicators/af52ebe9
- Wright, R. (2009). The evolution of God. Little, Brown.
- Xygalatas, D., Mitkidis, P., Fischer, R., Reddish, P., Skewes, J., Geertz, A. W., Roepstorff, A., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2013). Extreme rituals promote prosociality. *Psychological Science*, 24(8), 1602–1605. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612472910
- Yaffe, N. M., McDonald, M. M., Halperin, E., & Saguy, T. (2018). God, sex, and money among the ultra-Orthodox in Israel: An integrated sociocultural and evolutionary perspective. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.007

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

Each paper in this dissertation approaches a different aspect of religion using a reproductive approach. Here, I summarize the results of Chapters 1-4 and detail several future directions that might extend the reproductive approach to religion.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I introduced the Reproductive-Religiosity Model, and discussed several of the key papers that spurred or resulted from this approach. In particular, this approach owes much to the work of Weeden and colleagues, who suggested that religion (as well as some other moral positions) largely reflect competition between different mating strategies (Kurzban et al., 2010; Pinsof & Haselton, 2016; Weeden, 2015; Weeden et al., 2008; Weeden & Kurzban, 2013). That is, people who follow monogamous mating strategies are more likely to benefit from norms that impose costs on sexual promiscuity, and religion provides a powerful tool to advance their interests.

Chapter 2 (Moon, 2021) reviewed evidence for the Reproductive-Religiosity Model, and extended this approach to consider the reproductive benefits of religion. I proposed that religion might offset trade-offs in individuals' life history. That is, in addition to simply having more children (Blume, 2009; Frejka & Westoff, 2008; Rowthorn, 2011; Zhang, 2008), religions can incentivize men to invest more in parenting because of higher rates of paternal certainty (Strassmann et al., 2012) and by making alternative strategies more costly. Further, because religious traditions often engage in alloparenting (i.e., pooling together resources to raise offspring), they also seem to achieve higher fertility rates without having higher rates of infant mortality (Shaver et al., 2019, 2020). Finally, I also proposed that a reproductive approach is important for understanding the cultural evolution of religion. That is, religious beliefs are more likely to spread when adherents have high fertility rates, even if some children eventually leave the religion (Rowthorn, 2011), and the promotion of monogamous norms seems also to have important effects on societal cooperation (Henrich et al., 2012), which can help religions to spread.

In Chapter 3 (Moon et al., 2018), my coauthors and I explored the social implications of the Reproductive-Religiosity Model. We hypothesized that the effects of religion on perceived trustworthiness might be explained in part by intuitions about the relations between religion and mating strategies, rather than simply being a result of intuitions about religious targets' beliefs in punishing gods. Consistent with our predictions, we found that (a) people view religious individuals as sexually restricted, as interested in family and long-term mating, as higher in self-control, and less impulsive, (b) the perception of religious people as "committed reproductive strategists" statistically mediated the effect of religion on perceived trustworthiness, and (c) when participants were shown the target's "dating preferences" (i.e., whether he or she wanted to settle down and start a family or continue "playing the field"), religion no longer had an effect on perceived trustworthiness; instead, participants trusted targets who said they wanted to settle down.

Finally, Chapter 4 (Moon et al., 2022) applies the reproductive approach to a cross-cultural understanding of religion. This paper suggests that, if religion is a tool, and if people are largely drawn to religion when it is useful for their own goals, then any cultural dimension that makes this tool less useful should lead do decreased religiousness.

In particular, if religion is often used by men to advance their interests at the expense of women, and if a culture's level of gender equality affects men's ability to manipulate and control women, then it follows that religion might be less appealing to men in more egalitarian societies. Two global analyses using the World Values Survey and the European Values Survey suggested that this is the case—across multiple measures of religiousness, men (more so than women) tend to be less religious in countries with greater gender equality. This effect was especially consistent for religious attendance, and even held when controlling for participants' religious affiliations, sociosexual attitudes, and age.

Future Directions

This reproductive approach to religion can provide a generative framework for addressing religious phenomena. Below, I detail how this approach might fruitfully be applied and extended (including discussion of some extensions that have already been published).

Anti-Atheist Prejudice. Some subsequent work has already extended a reproductive approach as applied to social perception. For example, if part of the reason people distrust atheist is because they are perceived as being sexually promiscuous, it follows that people who are sexually restricted might harbor even greater anti-atheist prejudice, even when controlling for their own religious beliefs (Moon et al., 2020). Further, although most studies have focused on the myriad negative stereotypes of atheists (e.g., narcissistic, immoral, untrustworthy, etc.; Dubendorff & Luchner, 2016; Gervais, 2014; Harper, 2007), it might be possible that people view atheists positively in some ways. Recent work has suggested at least three domains in which atheists might be

viewed positively: they tend to be viewed as more fun, scientifically skilled, and openminded (Moon et al., 2021).

Another future direction in anti-atheist prejudice would examine the moderating influence of different cultural of ecological factors. For example, religion in the United States seems highly diagnostic of mating strategies, leading to strong inferences by social perceivers. It could be the case that religion is less diagnostic of mating strategies in some societies; that is, if there is little variation in either mating strategies or in cooperativeness within a society, religion might provide a weaker signal for social perceivers. For example, in countries where there is very little crime, people might be less concerned with cues of others' trustworthiness, leading to weaker inferences based on religion.

Finally, future studies might explore how anti-atheist prejudice combines with other identities. For instance, it could be the case that people have intuitions about which groups of people are most likely to engage in anti-social behavior (e.g., young men). Religion might be especially powerful in fostering trust toward these groups, allowing them to counteract negative stereotypes.

Religion in Mating Markets. One straightforward prediction based on reproductive stereotypes of religious and nonreligious individuals is that people will use religion as a proxy for willingness to commit to long-term relationships. There is now some evidence that atheists are disadvantaged as long-term mates (Brown, 2021).

Further, if one function of religion for women is to secure mates who would otherwise be less likely to stay in committed relationships (as proposed above; Moon et al., 2022), one might also expect that people engage with religion strategically depending on their ability to attract mates. For example, it could be that men with greater ability to find mates—who tend to be more sexually unrestricted (Arnocky et al., 2021)—might find religion less useful of a tool for their reproductive goals, and thus be less likely to become religious.

Proximate Mechanisms. Religious belief is often closely linked to a sense of meaning in life, and many people seek after religion precisely because it offers a sense of meaning (Park, 2013). Rather than being a competing explanation for religious belief, these perspectives might be complementary. For example, it could be that the propensity to find meaning in religion could be calibrated to the reproductive affordances posed by religion. One straightforward prediction, then, would be that the effect of religion on meaning is moderated by an individuals' reproductive goals (e.g., the relation might be especially strong among sexually restricted individuals). This would show how a more proximate cause (the desire for meaning) might lead individuals to pursue goals that are more evolutionarily relevant.

The Ecology of Religious Beliefs. As discussed in Chapter 1, moralizing religion tend to be more common in societies with pressing needs for cooperation (Botero et al., 2014; Peoples & Marlowe, 2012; Roes & Raymond, 2003). If a main function of religion is the regulation of sexual behavior, it should also generate predictions about the crosscultural distribution of religious beliefs.

One possible application of this approach is to consider which types of environments impose challenges for reproduction or for fidelity. For example, in "harsh" environments, parental care from both fathers and mothers may be especially important; accordingly, people might be more willing in these societies to endorse the types of religious practices that suppress female sexuality, such as veiling (Pazhoohi & Kingstone, 2020).

Conclusion

In all, a reproductive approach to religion certainly cannot explain all of religions. Religions help people find meaning, quell anxiety about their mortality, give them a sense of community, and much more. However, I suggest that this approach is very fruitful, as it can explain a surprisingly large portion of the variance in religious beliefs, is grounded in an interdisciplinary approach, and seems to provide insights about crosscultural variation in religious phenomena.

REFERENCES

- Adamczyk, A., & Hayes, B. E. (2012). Religion and sexual behaviors: Understanding the influence of Islamic cultures and religious affiliation for explaining sex outside of marriage. *American Sociological Review*, 77(5), 723–746. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122412458672
- Aksoy, O. (2017). Motherhood, sex of the offspring, and religious signaling. *Sociological Science*, *4*, 511–527. https://doi.org/10.15195/v4.a21
- Aksoy, O., & Gambetta, D. (2016). Behind the veil: The strategic use of religious garb. *European Sociological Review*, 32(6), 792–806. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcw035
- Arnocky, S., Desrochers, J., Rotella, A., Albert, G., Hodges-Simeon, C., Locke, A., Belanger, J., Lynch, D., & Kelly, B. (2021). Men's mate value correlates with a less restricted sociosexual orientation: A meta-analysis. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 50(8), 3663–3673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-01937-6
- Atari, M., Lai, M. H. C., & Dehghani, M. (2020). Sex differences in moral judgements across 67 countries. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287(1937), 20201201. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.1201
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baumard, N., & Chevallier, C. (2015). The nature and dynamics of world religions: A life-history approach. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1818), 20151593. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1593
- Beit-Hallahmi, B. (2014). *Psychological perspectives on religion and religiosity*. Routledge.
- Bengtson, V. L., Silverstein, M., Putney, N. M., & Harris, S. C. (2015). Does religiousness increase with age? Age changes and generational differences over 35 years. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 54(2), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12183
- Blake, K. R., Fourati, M., & Brooks, R. C. (2018). Who suppresses female sexuality? An examination of support for Islamic veiling in a secular Muslim democracy as a function of sex and offspring sex. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 632–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.006
- Blume, M. (2009). The reproductive benefits of religious affiliation. In E. Voland & W. Schiefenhövel (Eds.), *The biological evolution of religious mind and behavior* (pp. 117–126). Springer.

- Boster, J. S., Hudson, R. R., & Gaulin, S. J. C. (1998). High paternity certainties of Jewish priests. *American Anthropologist*, 100(4), 967–971. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.1998.100.4.967
- Botero, C. A., Gardner, B., Kirby, K. R., Bulbulia, J. A., Gavin, M. C., & Gray, R. D. (2014). The ecology of religious beliefs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(47), 16784–16789. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408701111
- Breda, T., Jouini, E., Napp, C., & Thebault, G. (2020). Gender stereotypes can explain the gender-equality paradox. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 117(49), 31063–31069. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2008704117
- Brown, M. (2021). Preliminary evidence for an aversion to atheists in long-term mating domains in the Southern United States. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*. https://doi.org/10.1177/02654075211045051
- Bulbulia, J. A., Shaver, J. H., Greaves, L., Sosis, R., & Sibley, C. G. (2015). Religion and parental cooperation: An empirical test of Slone's sexual signaling model. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution of religion: Studies, theories and critiques* (pp. 29–62). Collins Foundation Press.
- Burdette, A. M., Ellison, C. G., Sherkat, D. E., & Gore, K. A. (2007). Are there religious variations in marital infidelity? *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(12), 1553–1581. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X07304269
- Buss, D. M. (2002). Sex, marriage, and religion: What adaptive problems do religious phenomena solve? *Psychological Inquiry*, *13*(3), 201–203.
- Buss, D. M. (2017). Sexual conflict in human mating. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 26(4), 307–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417695559
- Buss, D. M., & Barnes, M. (1986). Preferences in human mate selection. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(3), 559–570. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.3.559
- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (1993). Sexual strategies theory: An evolutionary perspective on human mating. *Psychological Review*, 100(2), 204–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.100.2.204
- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (2019). Mate preferences and their behavioral manifestations. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(23), 77–110. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418
- Carter, E. C., McCullough, M. E., Kim-Spoon, J., Corrales, C., & Blake, A. (2012). Religious people discount the future less. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 33(3), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2011.09.006

- Cohen, A. B., Malka, A., Rozin, P., & Cherfas, L. (2006). Religion and unforgivable offenses. *Journal of Personality*, 74(1), 85–117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00370.x
- Cohen, A. B., & Moon, J. W. (2017). Psychology: Atheism and moral intuitions. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(8), Article 0157. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0157
- Costa, P. T., Terracciano, A., & McCrae, R. R. (2001). Gender differences in personality traits across cultures: Robust and surprising findings. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *81*(2), 322–331. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.81.2.322
- Cottrell, C. A., & Neuberg, S. L. (2005). Different emotional reactions to different groups: A sociofunctional threat-based approach to "prejudice". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(5), 770–789. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.5.770
- Cottrell, C. A., Neuberg, S. L., & Li, N. P. (2007). What do people desire in others? A sociofunctional perspective on the importance of different valued characteristics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(2), 208–231. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.2.208
- Curry, O. S., Price, M. E., & Price, J. G. (2008). Patience is a virtue: Cooperative people have lower discount rates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44, 778–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.09.023
- Davidson, A. B., & Ekelund, R. B. (1997). The medieval church and rents from marriage market regulations. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 32(2), 215– 245. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2681(96)00903-1
- Deady, D. K., Law Smith, M. J., Kent, J. P., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (2006). Is priesthood an adaptive strategy? Evidence from a historical Irish population. *Human Nature*, 17(4), 393–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-006-1002-2
- Del Giudice, M., Gangestad, S. W., & Kaplan, H. S. (2015). Life history theory and evolutionary psychology. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), *The handbook of evolutionary psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 88–114). Wiley and Sons.
- Dubendorff, S. J., & Luchner, A. F. (2016). The perception of atheists as narcissistic. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 9, 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000093
- Ellingson, S., & Green, M. C. (Eds.). (2013). *Religion and sexuality in cross-cultural perspective*. Routledge.
- Ellis, B. J., Del Giudice, M., Dishion, T. J., Gray, P., Hawley, P. H., Jacobs, W. J., Volk, A. A., & Wilson, D. S. (2012). The evolutionary basis of risky adolescent behavior: Implications for science, policy, and practice. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(3),

598-623. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026220

- Ellis, B. J., Figueredo, A. J., Brumbach, B. H., & Schlomer, G. L. (2009). Fundamental dimensions of environmental risk: The impact of harsh versus unpredictable environments on the evolution and development of life history strategies. *Human Nature*, 20(2), 204–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-009-9063-7
- EVS/WVS. (2021). Joint EVS/WVS 2017-2021 dataset. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA 7505 data file version 1.1.0. https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13670
- Falk, A., & Hermle, J. (2018). Relationship of gender differences in preferences to economic development and gender equality. *Science*, 362(6412). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aas9899
- Fitouchi, L., & Singh, M. (2022). Supernatural punishment beliefs as cognitively compelling tools of social control. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 44, 252–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.09.022
- Frankenhuis, W. E., Panchanathan, K., & Nettle, D. (2016). Cognition in harsh and unpredictable environments. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 7, 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.08.011
- Frejka, T., & Westoff, C. F. (2008). Religion, religiousness and fertility in the US and in Europe. *European Journal of Population*, 24(1), 5–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-007-9121-y
- Freyd, J. J., & Johnson, J. Q. (1992). The evolutionary psychology of priesthood celibacy. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 15(2), 385. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00069223
- Freymeyer, R. H. (1997). Rape myths and religiosity. *Sociological Spectrum*, *17*(4), 473–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.1997.9982179
- Gaulin, S. J. C., & Schlegel, A. (1980). Paternal confidence and paternal investment: A cross cultural test of a sociobiological hypothesis. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *1*(4), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(80)90015-1
- Gervais, W. M. (2014). Everything is permitted? People intuitively judge immorality as representative of atheists. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(4), e92302. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092302
- Gervais, W. M., Shariff, A. F., & Norenzayan, A. (2011). Do you believe in atheists? Distrust is central to anti-atheist prejudice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(6), 1189–1206. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025882
- Gervais, W. M., Xygalatas, D., McKay, R. T., van Elk, M., Buchtel, E. E., Aveyard, M., Schiavone, S. R., Dar-Nimrod, I., Svedholm-Hakkinen, A. M., Riekki, T., Klocova,

E. K., Ramsay, J. E., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2017). Global evidence of extreme intuitive moral prejudice against atheists. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *1*(8), Article 0151. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0151

- Gladden, P. R., Welch, J., Figueredo, A. J., & Jacobs, W. J. (2009). Moral intuitions and religiosity as spuriously correlated life history traits. *Journal of Evolutionary Psychology*, *7*, 167–184. https://doi.org/10.1556/JEP.7.2009.2.5
- Grebe, N. M., Sarafin, R. E., Strenth, C. R., & Zilioli, S. (2019). Pair-bonding, fatherhood, and the role of testosterone: A meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 98(January), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.01.010
- Hall, D. L., Cohen, A. B., Meyer, K. K., Varley, A. H., & Brewer, G. A. (2015). Costly signaling increases trust, even across religious affiliations. *Psychological Science*, 26(9), 1368–1376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615576473
- Harper, M. (2007). The stereotyping of nonreligious people by religious students: Contents and subtypes. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 46(4), 539–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2007.00376.x
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). PROCESS: A versatile computational tool for observed variable mediation, moderation, and conditional process modeling [White paper]. (pp. 1– 39). http://www.afhayes.com/ public/process2012.pdf
- Hayes, A. F., & Preacher, K. J. (2014). Statistical mediation analysis with a multicategorical independent variable. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 67(3), 451–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/bmsp.12028
- Heath, K. M., & Hadley, C. (1998). Dichotomous male reproductive strategies in a polygynous human society: Mating versus parental effort. *Current Anthropology*, 39(3), 369–374.
- Henrich, J., Bauer, M., Cassar, A., Chytilová, J., & Purzycki, B. G. (2019). War increases religiosity. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 3(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0512-3
- Henrich, J., Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (2012). The puzzle of monogamous marriage. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 367(1589), 657–669. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0290
- Hill, K. R. (2019). Anthropological and evolutionary demography. In O. Burger, R. Lee, & R. Sear (Eds.), *Human Evolutionary Demography*. https://osf.io/29wv5/
- Hone, L. S. E., McCauley, T. G., Pedersen, E. J., Carter, E. C., & McCullough, M. E. (2021). The sex premium in religiously motivated moral judgment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *120*(6), 1621–1633.

https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000296

- Hrdy, S. B. (1999). *Mother nature: A history of mothers, infants, and natural selection*. Pantheon.
- Hungerman, D. M. (2014). The effect of education on religion: Evidence from compulsory schooling laws. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 104, 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2013.09.004
- Inglehart, R., Haerpfer, C., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., Diez-Medrano, J., Lagos, M., Norris, P., Ponarin, E., & Puranen, B. (Eds.). (2014). World Values Survey: Round six datafile, 2010-2014.
- Irons, W. (2001). Religion as a hard-to-fake sign of commitment. In R. M. Nesse (Ed.), *Evolution and the capacity for commitment* (pp. 292–309). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Jack, A. I., Friedman, J. P., Boyatzis, R. E., & Taylor, S. N. (2016). Why do you believe in god? Relationships between religious belief, analytic thinking, mentalizing and moral concern. *PLoS ONE*, 11(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149989
- Jackson, J. C., Halberstadt, J., Jong, J., & Felman, H. (2015). Perceived openness to experience accounts for religious homogamy. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 630–638. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550615574302
- Johnson, D. D. P. (2005). God's punishment and public goods: A test of the supernatural punishment hypothesis in 186 world cultures. *Human Nature*, *16*, 410–446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-005-1017-0
- Johnson, D. D. P. (2015). *God is watching you: How the fear of God makes us human*. Oxford University Press.
- Johnson, D. D. P., & Bering, J. M. (2006). Hand of God, mind of man: Punishment and cognition in the evolution of cooperation. *Evolutionary Psychology*, 4, 219–233. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199557028.003.0002
- Jonason, P. K., Li, N. P., & Webster., G. D. (2009). The dark triad: Traits that facilitate short-term mating in men. *European Journal of Personality*, 23(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.698
- Kokko, H., & Jennions, M. (2003). It takes two to tango. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *18*(3), 103–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00009-0
- Kunz, J. (2009). Is there a particular role for ideational aspects of religions in human behavioral ecology? In E. Voland & W. Schiefenhövel (Eds.), *The biological evolution of religious mind and behavior* (pp. 89–104). Springer.

- Kurzban, R., Dukes, A., & Weeden, J. (2010). Sex, drugs and moral goals: Reproductive strategies and views about recreational drugs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1699), 3501–3508. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0608
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13), 1–26.
- Landolt, M. A., Lalumière, M. L., & Quinsey, V. L. (1995). Sex differences in intra-sex variations in human mating tactics: An evolutionary approach. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 16, 3–23.
- Lawson, D. W., & Mace, R. (2009). Trade-offs in modern parenting: A longitudinal study of sibling competition for parental care. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *30*(3), 170–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.12.001
- Litman, L., Robinson, J., & Abberbock, T. (2017). TurkPrime.com: A versatile crowdsourcing data acquisition platform for the behavioral sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(2), 433–442. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0727-z
- McCullough, M. E., Carter, E. C., DeWall, C. N., & Corrales, C. M. (2012). Religious cognition down-regulates sexually selected, characteristically male behaviors in men, but not in women. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 33(5), 562–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2012.02.004
- McCullough, M. E., Enders, C. K., Brion, S. L., & Jain, A. R. (2005). The varieties of religious development in adulthood: A longitudinal investigation of religion and rational choice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(1), 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.1.78
- McCullough, M. E., Swartwout, P., Carter, E. C., Shaver, J. H., & Sosis, R. (2016). Christian religious badges instill trust in Christian and non-Christian perceivers. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 8(2), 149–163. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000045
- McCullough, M. E., & Willoughby, B. L. B. (2009). Religion, self-regulation, and selfcontrol: Associations, explanations, and implications. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(1), 69–93. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014213
- Međedović, J. (2020). Examining the link between religiousness and fitness in a behavioural ecological framework. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, *52*(5), 756–767. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932019000774
- Mercier, B., Kramer, S. R., & Shariff, A. F. (2018). Belief in God: Why people believe and why they don't. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 27(4), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418754491
- Moon, J. W. (2021). Why are world religions so concerned with sexual behavior?

Current Opinion in Psychology, 40, 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.07.030

- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2018). Religious people are trusted because they are viewed as slow life-history strategists. *Psychological Science*, 29(6), 947– 960. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617753606
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2020). Opposition to short-term mating predicts anti-atheist prejudice. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 165, Article 110136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110136
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., & Cohen, A. B. (2021). Is there anything good about atheists? Exploring positive and negative stereotypes of the religious and nonreligious. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 12(8), 1505–1516. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550620982703
- Moon, J. W., Krems, J. A., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2019). Is nothing sacred? Religion, sex, and reproductive strategies. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(4), 361–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419838242
- Moon, J. W., Tratner, A. E., & McDonald, M. M. (2022). Men are less religious in more gender-equal countries. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 289(1968), 20212474. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.2474
- Neel, R., Neufeld, S. L., & Neuberg, S. L. (2013). Would an obese person whistle Vivaldi? Targets of prejudice self-present to minimize appearance of specific threats. *Psychological Science*, 24(5), 678–687. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612458807
- Norenzayan, A. (2010). Why we believe: Religion as a human universal. In H. Hgholesen (Ed.), *Human morality and sociality: Evolutionary and comparative perspectives* (pp. 58–71).
- Norenzayan, A., Gervais, W. M., & Trzesniewski, K. H. (2012). Mentalizing deficits constrain belief in a personal god. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e36880. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036880
- Norenzayan, A., Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Slingerland, E., Gervais, W. M., McNamara, R. A., & Henrich, J. (2016). The cultural evolution of prosocial religions. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 39, e1. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X14001356
- Norman, G. (2010). Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, *15*(5), 625–632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y

Norris, P., & Inglehart, R. (2004). Sacred and secular: Religion and politics worldwide.

Cambridge University Press.

- Park, C. L. (2013). Religion and meaning. In R. F. Paloutzian & C. L. Park (Eds.), *Handbook of the psychology of religion and spirituality, Second edition* (Issue 1969, pp. 357–379). The Guilford Press.
- Pazhoohi, F., & Hosseinchari, M. (2014). Effects of religious veiling on Muslim men's attractiveness ratings of Muslim women. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 43(6), 1083– 1086. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0259-5
- Pazhoohi, F., & Kingstone, A. (2020). Sex difference on the importance of veiling: A cross-cultural investigation. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 54(5), 486–501. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397120931031
- Penke, L., & Asendorpf, J. B. (2008). Beyond global sociosexual orientations: A more differentiated look at sociosexuality and its effects on courtship and romantic relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(5), 1113–1135. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.95.5.1113
- Peoples, H. C., & Marlowe, F. W. (2012). Subsistence and the evolution of religion. *Human Nature*, 23(3), 253–269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-012-9148-6
- Petersen, M. B., & Aarøe, L. (2015). Birth weight and social trust in adulthood: Evidence for early calibration of social cognition. *Psychological Science*, 26(11), 1681–1692. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615595622
- Pinsof, D., & Haselton, M. G. (2016). The political divide over same-sex marriage: Mating strategies in conflict? *Psychological Science*, 27, 435–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615621719
- Pirlott, A. G., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2016). Design approaches to experimental mediation. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 66, 29–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2015.09.012
- Price, M. E., Pound, N., & Scott, I. M. (2014). Female economic dependence and the morality of promiscuity. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 43(7), 1289–1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0320-4
- Purzycki, B. G., Apicella, C. L., Atkinson, Q. D., Cohen, E., McNamara, R. A., Willard, A. K., Xygalatas, D., Norenzayan, A., & Henrich, J. (2016). Moralistic gods, supernatural punishment and the expansion of human sociality. *Nature*, 530, 327– 330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16980
- Qirko, H. (2002). The institutional maintenance of celibacy. *Current Anthropology*, 43(2), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1086/339380

Reynolds, V., & Tanner, R. (1995). The social ecology of religion. Oxford University

Press.

- Richerson, P. J., & Boyd, R. (2005). Not by genes alone: How culture transformed human evolution. University of Chicago Press.
- Rigo, C., & Saroglou, V. (2018). Religiosity and sexual behavior: Tense relationships and underlying affects and cognitions in samples of Christian and Muslim traditions. *Archive for the Psychology of Religion*, 40(2–3), 176–201. https://doi.org/10.1163/15736121-12341359
- Roes, F. L., & Raymond, M. (2003). Belief in moralizing gods. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 24(2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-5138(02)00134-4
- Roth, L. M., & Kroll, J. C. (2007). Risky business: Assessing risk preference explanations for gender differences in religiosity. *American Sociological Review*, 72(2), 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240707200204
- Rowthorn, R. (2011). Religion, fertility and genes: A dual inheritance model. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278(1717), 2519–2527. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.2504
- Saroglou, V. (2019). Religion and related morality across cultures. In D. Matsumoto & H. C. Hwang (Eds.), *The Handbook of Culture and Psychology* (pp. 724–785).
 Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780190679743.003.0022
- Scelza, B. A., Prall, S. P., Blumenfield, T., Crittenden, A. N., Gurven, M., Kline, M., Koster, J., Kushnick, G., Mattison, S. M., Pillsworth, E., Shenk, M. K., Starkweather, K., Stieglitz, J., Sum, C. Y., Yamaguchi, K., & McElreath, R. (2020). Patterns of paternal investment predict cross-cultural variation in jealous response. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *4*, 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0654-y
- Schielzeth, H., Dingemanse, N. J., Nakagawa, S., Westneat, D. F., Allegue, H., Teplitsky, C., Réale, D., Dochtermann, N. A., Garamszegi, L. Z., & Araya-Ajoy, Y. G. (2020). Robustness of linear mixed-effects models to violations of distributional assumptions. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 11(9), 1141–1152. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13434
- Schmitt, D. P., & Fuller, R. C. (2015). On the varieties of sexual experience: Crosscultural links between religiosity and human mating strategies. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 7(4), 314–326. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000036
- Schmitt, D. P., Long, A. E., McPhearson, A., O'Brien, K., Remmert, B., & Shah, S. H. (2017). Personality and gender differences in global perspective. *International Journal of Psychology*, 52, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12265
- Schmitt, D. P., Realo, A., Voracek, M., & Allik, J. (2008). Why can't a man be more like a woman? Sex differences in Big Five personality traits across 55 cultures. *Journal*

of Personality and Social Psychology, 94(1), 168–182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.94.1.168

- Schnabel, L., Hackett, C., & McClendon, D. (2018). Where men appear more religious than women: Turning a gender lens on religion in Israel. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 57(1), 80–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12498
- Schulz, J. F., Bahrami-rad, D., Beauchamp, J. P., & Henrich, J. (2019). The Church, intensive kinship, and global psychological variation. *Science*, *366*(707), eaau5141. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau5141
- Shariff, A. F., Willard, A. K., Andersen, T., & Norenzayan, A. (2016). Religious priming: A meta-analysis with a focus on prosociality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 20, 27–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314568811
- Shaver, J. H., Power, E. A., Purzycki, B. G., Watts, J., Sear, R., Shenk, M. K., Sosis, R., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2020). Church attendance and alloparenting: An analysis of fertility, social support and child development among English mothers: Church attendance and alloparenting. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1805). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0428
- Shaver, J. H., Sibley, C. G., Sosis, R., Galbraith, D., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2019). Alloparenting and religious fertility: A test of the religious alloparenting hypothesis. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 40(3), 345–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2019.01.004
- Sherkat, D. E., & Wilson, J. (1995). Preferences, constraints, and choices in religious markets: An examination of religious switching and apostasy. *Social Forces*, 73(3), 993–1026. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/73.3.993
- Simpson, J. A. (2007). Psychological foundations of trust. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *16*(5), 264–268.
- Singh, M., & Henrich, J. (2020). Why do religious leaders observe costly prohibitions? Examining taboos on Mentawai shamans. *Evolutionary Human Sciences*, 2, e32. https://doi.org/10.1017/ehs.2020.32
- Slone, D. J. (2008). The attraction of religion: A sexual selectionist account. In J. A. Bulbulia, R. Sosis, R. Genet, E. Harris, K. Wyman, & C. Genet (Eds.), *The evolution* of religion: Studies, theories and critiques (pp. 181–187). Collins Foundation Press.
- Slone, D. J., & Van Slyke, J. A. (Eds.). (2016). *The attraction of religion: A new evolutionary psychology of religion*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Sng, O., Neuberg, S. L., Varnum, M. E. W., & Kenrick, D. T. (2018). The behavioral ecology of cultural psychological variation. *Psychological Review*, 125(5), 714–743. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000104

- Sosis, R., & Alcorta, C. (2003). Signaling, solidarity, and the sacred: The evolution of religious behavior. *Evolutionary Anthropology*, 12(6), 264–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/evan.10120
- Sosis, R., & Bressler, E. R. (2003). Cooperation and commune longevity: A test of the costly signaling theory of religion. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 37(2), 211–239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397103251426
- Sosis, R., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2011). The behavioral ecology of religion: The benefits and costs of one evolutionary approach. *Religion*, 41(3), 341–362. https://doi.org/10.1080/0048721X.2011.604514
- South, A. (2011). rworldmap: A new R package for mapping global data. *The R Journal*, *3*(1), 35–43.
- Stark, R. (2002). Physiology and faith: Addressing the "universal" gender difference in religious commitment. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 41(3), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5906.00133
- Stearns, S. C. (1992). The evolution of life histories. Oxford University Press.
- Stoet, G., & Geary, D. C. (2018). The Gender-Equality Paradox in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics Education. *Psychological Science*, 29(4), 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617741719
- Stoet, G., & Geary, D. C. (2020). The gender-equality paradox is part of a bigger phenomenon: Reply to Richardson and Colleagues (2020). *Psychological Science*, 31(3), 342–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620904134
- Strassmann, B. I., Kurapati, N. T., Hug, B. F., Burke, E. E., Gillespie, B. W., Karafet, T. M., & Hammer, M. F. (2012). Religion as a means to assure paternity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(25), 9781–9785. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110442109
- Tan, J. H. W., & Vogel, C. (2008). Religion and trust: An experimental study. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29, 832–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2008.03.002
- The World Bank. (n.d.). World development indicators. https://data.worldbank.org
- United Nations. (2019). *World Population Prospects*. https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/
- Van Slyke, J. A. (2017). Can sexual selection theory explain the evolution of individual and group-level religious beliefs and behaviors? *Religion, Brain and Behavior*, 7(4), 335–338. https://doi.org/10.1080/2153599X.2016.1249922

Van Slyke, J. A., & Szocik, K. (2020). Sexual selection and religion: Can the evolution of

religion be explained in terms of mating strategies? *Archive for the Psychology of Religion*, 42(1), 123–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/0084672420909460

- Weeden, J. (2015). Losing my religion: An analysis of the decline in religious attendance from childhood to adulthood. In D. J. Slone & J. A. Van Slyke (Eds.), *The attraction of religion: A new evolutionary psychology of religion*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Weeden, J., Cohen, A. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2008). Religious attendance as reproductive support. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 327–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.03.004
- Weeden, J., & Kurzban, R. (2013). What predicts religiosity? A multinational analysis of reproductive and cooperative morals. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 34(6), 440– 445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2013.08.006
- Williams, K. E. G., Sng, O., & Neuberg, S. L. (2016). Ecology-driven stereotypes override race stereotypes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(2), 310–315. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519401113
- Wilson, D. S., O'Brien, D. T., & Sesma, A. (2009). Human prosociality from an evolutionary perspective: Variation and correlations at a city-wide scale. *Evolution* and Human Behavior, 30(3), 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2008.12.002
- World Economic Forum. (2018). *The global gender gap report*. https://tcdata360.worldbank.org/indicators/af52ebe9
- Wright, R. (2009). The evolution of God. Little, Brown.
- Xygalatas, D., Mitkidis, P., Fischer, R., Reddish, P., Skewes, J., Geertz, A. W., Roepstorff, A., & Bulbulia, J. A. (2013). Extreme rituals promote prosociality. *Psychological Science*, 24(8), 1602–1605. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612472910
- Yaffe, N. M., McDonald, M. M., Halperin, E., & Saguy, T. (2018). God, sex, and money among the ultra-Orthodox in Israel: An integrated sociocultural and evolutionary perspective. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(6), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2018.06.007
- Zhang, L. (2008). Religious affiliation, religiosity, and male and female fertility. *Demographic Research*, *18*, 233–262. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2008.18.8

APPENDIX A

APPROVAL FOR INCLUSION IN STAPLED DISSERTATION

This dissertation includes two previously published works that have co-authors. For each of these works, I have been granted permission to include them in this dissertation.

APPENDIX B

CHAPTER 3 ETHICAL APPROVAL


EXEMPTION GRANTED

Adam Cohen Psychology 480/965-7345 Adam.Cohen@asu.edu

Dear Adam Cohen:

On 9/28/2017 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Social Perceptions of Religious Individuals
Investigator:	Adam Cohen
IRB ID:	STUDY00006969
Funding:	None
Grant Title:	None
Grant ID:	None
Documents Reviewed:	 Recruiting Scripts.pdf, Category: Consent Form; Social Perception and Religion - Debriefing Script.pdf, Category: Participant materials (specific directions for them); Consent Form - Undergraduate.pdf, Category: Consent Form; IRB Protocol.docx, Category: IRB Protocol; Social Pereption and Religion - Online Consent Form.pdf, Category: Consent Form; Measures and Stimuli, Category: Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus group questions);

The IRB determined that the protocol is considered exempt pursuant to Federal Regulations 45CFR46 (2) Tests, surveys, interviews, or observation on 9/28/2017.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

APPENDIX C

CHAPTER 4 ETHICAL APPROVAL



EXEMPTION GRANTED

Adam Cohen CLAS-NS: Psychology 480/965-7345 Adam.Cohen@asu.edu

Dear Adam Cohen:

On 8/6/2020 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Religion, Morality, Prejudice, and Ecology
Investigator:	Adam Cohen
IRB ID:	STUDY00012265
Funding:	None
Grant Title:	None
Grant ID:	None
Documents Reviewed:	 Country-level data sources.pdf, Category: Other; Ecology and religion IRB.docx, Category: IRB Protocol; Questionnaire, Category: Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus group questions); Variables to analyze, Category: Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus group questions); WVS collection procedures.pdf, Category: Recruitment materials/advertisements /verbal scripts/phone scripts;

The IRB determined that the protocol is considered exempt pursuant to Federal Regulations 45CFR46 on 8/6/2020.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).